
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 

Tuesday, September 17, 2013 
Breckenridge Council Chambers 

150 Ski Hill Road 
 

 
12:00pm Site Visit: Peak Ten Bluffs, Silver Queen Drive (Meet At Town Hall At Noon)  
 

7:00pm Call To Order Of The September 17 Planning Commission Meeting; 7:00 P.M. Roll Call  
 

 Location Map 2 
 

 Approval Of Minutes 4 
 

 Approval Of Agenda  
 

7:05pm Consent Calendar  
1. Goldreyer Residence (SG) PC#2013076; 422 Timber Trail Road 14 
2. Hart Residence (MM) PC#2013077; 201 South Pine Street 26 
3. Hauer Residence (MGT) 2013081; 312 Westerman Road 41 
4. Hirsch Retail Building Master Sign Plan (MGT) PC#2013080; 216 South Main Street 51 
5. Project X (MGT) PC#2013079; 103 North Pine Street 63 

 
7:15pm Worksessions  

1. Planning Application Reclassifications (JP) 72 
2. Top Ten List/Council Joint Meeting Prep (JP) 80 

 
8:00pm Town Council Report  
 

8:15pm Preliminary Hearings  
1. Peak Ten Bluffs Master Plan (MM) PC#2013066; Silver Queen Drive 81 
2. Peak Ten Bluffs Subdivision (MM) PC#2013067; Silver Queen Drive 87 

 
9:15pm Other Matters  
 

9:30pm Adjournment  
 
 
For further information, please contact the Planning Department at 970/453-3160. 
 
*The indicated times are intended only to be used as guides.  The order of projects, as well as the length of the 
discussion for each project, is at the discretion of the Commission.  We advise you to be present at the beginning of 
the meeting regardless of the estimated times. 
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PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm 
 
ROLL CALL 
Kate Christopher Jim Lamb Gretchen Dudney 
Dan Schroder Eric Mamula  
Dave Pringle 
Trip Butler and Jennifer McAtamney, Town Council Liaison, were absent. Mayor John Warner was present. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
With no changes, the September 3, 2013 Planning Commission meeting agenda was approved unanimously 
(6-0). 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
With no changes, the August 6, 2013, Planning Commission Minutes were approved as presented. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR: 
1. Lot 83, Highlands Park (SG) PC#2013068, 201 Lake Edge Drive 
2. Lot 2, Shock Hill, Legacy Homes (SG) PC#2013069, 0065 Penn Lode 
3. Sharp Residence (SG) PC#2013073, 446 Timber Trail Road 
4. Synergy Market Home (MGT) PC#2013071, 0047 Galena Court 
5. Lot 12, Crescent (MGT) PC#2013072, 760 Fairways Drive 
6. Columbia Lode Duplex 17 & 16 (MM) PC#2013070, 76 & 82 Luisa Drive 
 
With no requests for call up, the Consent Calendar was approved as presented. 
 
TOWN COUNCIL REPORT: 
Mayor John Warner gave the report filling in for Councilwoman Jennifer McAtamney. The Council had first 
reading of new marijuana regulations which plays into our town brand. Attorney will rewrite ordinance so 
that sole proprietor would be required not to have retail in the downtown corridor. Don’t want to undermine 
the will of the voters but we feel that we have a duty to protect our brand and Main Street. This is within the 
town rights according to Amendment 64. It is in EngageBreck and there are numerous positive comments. 
Also, the Council wanted no caps on the number of dispensaries except for the Mayor. Mayor wanted a cap of 
5 but the majority wanted to let the free market to play out. Feel free to get on EngageBreck. (Mr. Schroder: I 
am in support of no downtown dispensaries with the Council.) We are inadvertently creating a neighborhood 
of dispensaries on Airport Road. This is a complicated and messy issue. (Mr. Pringle: How does the law work 
with retail versus supply to the retail shops?) The supply must be fairly close. Could opt to be just medical 
marijuana or just retail or both. If you are both retail and medical you have to have 2 entrances 2 counters for 
the under 21 medical marijuana and the over 21 retail. (Mr. Mamula: Has the state made estimates how many 
people might be recreational users vs. medical?) Probably all current medical marijuana will go retail. (Mr. 
Pringle: Will it be like a need for additional liquor license?) There is currently no cap, but Mr. Berry (Town 
Attorney) might rethink some things since Council did not want a cap. At this point the person who will 
evaluate the applications will be the Town Manager. Currently have 5 dispensaries, but if there is more like 
15 then we might need an addendum for something like a liquor license board. 
Mr. Gallagher and Mayor Warner toured the Black Forest Fire, an amazing tour, saw the entirety of fire, 
Cathedral Pines neighborhood was asked to use best practices to prepare for fire, they lost 1 out of 100 houses 
and surrounding neighborhoods that weren’t using preventative planning practices were 95% lost. 
Pre-mitigation really worked for the Cathedral Pines neighborhood. I came back with good info with Mr. 
Gallagher and learned a lot about best landscaping fire mitigation practices, like not using wood chips around 
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your home. The one house that was lost in Cathedral Pines had all of his woodworking materials under his 
deck. A great lesson learned. (Mr. Pringle: I am a believer in defensible space, but concerned about fires 
creating own weather patterns and still this neighborhood weren’t touched?) Yes, because of mitigation 
practices used that the fire stayed within 50 feet. The homes that tried to do defensible space within other 
neighborhoods lost their homes because their neighbors didn’t do defensible space. Need to have 100% buy 
in. 
Arts District: We lost 30 parking spots here and with the Harris Street Building, lost 60 parking spots. This 
was apparent during bike race but the Arts District is going well although a couple weeks behind. Both big 
projects we have been underwhelmed by the number of local contractors and costs of working on that, but 
because economy is better, we are doing better as a town on tax revenue. Asbestos mitigation was tough on 
the Harris Street renovation. 
(Mr. Mamula: Has the Town Council addressed the fact that local contractors are not as engaged after they 
complained when the economic downturn?) A lot of the workers have left the county so that’s why some of 
the contractors haven’t been around now. 
Cucumber Gulch blowout: The Boreas Creek 60” pipe blew out the beaver ponds. It will be remediated. And 
we will do fire mitigation work on MBJ and Wedge. 
The US Pro Challenge: The bike race was put on EngageBreck to ask people what they think. Aspen did a 
live post race seminar and it was overwhelmingly positive from their residents. Restaurant Association came 
to Breck Town Council with a letter in support of the long range view of the Bike Race. The goal is to grow 
the pie year over year. If merchants are patient, this will pay dividends.   
Decision to heat sidewalk on Lincoln up to Ridge Street, takes natural gas, but will reduce slips and falls. 
Median Landscape from roundabout to north to Valley Brook Road, a few Council members don’t like the 
stone, natural look, so we are getting a plan back that will be more manicured, more intense and highly 
maintained from roundabout to Valley Brook. From Valley Brook to Fairview will be less formal but look 
better than a patch of weeds. There will be a median all the way to Tiger Road, which was news to me. (Mr. 
Schroder: Is this a Town of Breck thing? Would like to have a choice that is minimal upkeep and money, 
would be better to do it right the first time and not follow Town of Frisco’s example with replacing rock every 
year.) Valley Brook to Fairview a buff concrete paver that would have a weed barrier underneath is proposed 
for this area. Maybe use some Breck Street lamps every 200 feet as an icon for the Town. Maybe some stands 
for hanging plants but this would require a lot more upkeep. Fairview is a joint County / Town project topic. 
(Ms. Dudney: Will Highway 9 be paved before snow flies?) They think they will get it done by end of 
October, even though Contractor is not pleasing CDOT with their progress. 
(Ms. Dudney: How are sales on solar panels?) They are sold out without a lot of marketing. (Mr. Lamb: I 
don’t even notice the solar panels, I’m pleased with how well shielded it is.) (Mr. Pringle: I don’t think there 
is any impact from Highway 9, maybe from Fairview.) (Ms. Puester: There will be landscaping installed in 
strategic locations later this fall.) (Mr. Lamb: We did a good job of communicating as opposed to how it 
worked at Summit Cove Elementary.) 
BOSAC paid for two pieces of property between Alpine Bank. EngageBreck is giving input on how to use 
this, some people want parking, outdoor yoga, playground, no suggestions for retail. (Mr. Thompson: The 
historic guidelines mention a visual corridor to the Carter Museum as well.) 
 
WORKSESSIONS: 
1. Planning Application Reclassifications (JP) 
Ms. Puester presented a memo identifying some potential modifications that could assist with efficiencies in 
the development review process or fill in some holes that staff has identified. The proposed changes for 
comment are: 
• Class A: Add cellular towers and antennas. 
• Class B: Reclassify Small Vendor Carts to a Class C development, still requiring Planning Commission 
review but not requiring public notice, while keeping Large Vendor Carts a Class B (and public notice). 

• Class C:  
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o Change Single family structures outside of the Historic District to Class D development, with the 
ability of the Director to reclassify to a Class C if staff identifies any issues. 

o Change Duplex structures outside of the Historic District to Class D development, with the ability of 
the Director to reclassify to a Class C. 

o Add a seasonal category to code language that states temporary structures or uses greater than three 
days in duration.  

• Class D: 
o Add a new Master Sign Plan Modification category. 
o Add any covenant changes to the existing language of substitution of employee housing unit. 
o Allow minor remodels and additions of less than 10% of total square footage. 

 
Class A: Add cellular towers and antennas. This would be a new section to address land use and visibility and 
appropriateness of the location. 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Ms. Christopher: This is a great idea, good to address. 
Mr. Mamula: I agree. 
Ms. Dudney: I agree. 
Mr. Pringle: I agree and would like to see what other municipalities and residential areas are doing.  
Ms. Christopher: In Phoenix they have cell towers designed like palm and pine trees. 
Mr. Schroder: I agree too; there is a lot of ability to hide and screen these cell towers.  
 
Class B: Reclassify Small Vendor Carts to a Class C development, still requiring Planning Commission 
review but not requiring public notice, while keeping Large Vendor Carts a Class B. Staff is proposing to 
separate these out as small carts are limited to 40 sq. ft. for 1 year, large are 100 sq. ft. for 3 years. Small carts 
get put away in the evening and large carts don’t. Large carts need public notice since they stay in place for 3 
years. 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Mr. Pringle: In favor. 
Mr. Schroder: In favor and need to keep Class B for large carts. Do we need to spend time on large vendor 

carts? (Ms. Puester: We currently only allow for 3 large vendor carts, crepe cart is exempted. 
Large vending carts for up to 12 outdoor seating and an established look; more impact.)  

Ms. Dudney: This is more fair. 
Mr. Mamula: I don’t agree, they all need public notice for mixed use buildings. There are potential issues 

for blocking doors and windows of existing businesses. I would leave it the way it is. 
Because small vendor carts could be objectionable to the owners of businesses but the 
landlord may not care. You can have 4 small carts. 

Ms. Christopher: If the small cart is the same owner as the business, would that work? 
Mr. Mamula: Jerky, Stellas are large. (Mr. Thompson: Kavas is small and operates only in summer.) 
Mr. Pringle: Class C would not get any special notice. (Ms. Puester: Could up the notifications for this; 

the filing fees are hefty.) 
Mr. Mamula: I care about the public notice not the filing fees. (Ms. Puester: Class C would come on a 

consent calendar, could modify process to require notice with it.) 
Mr. Lamb: Would support a hybrid change in code so that neighbors could get a notice. 
Mr. Mamula: Part of the fee structure being high is intentional to discourage the small carts. 
Ms. Dudney: We all agree with the hybrid idea. 
 
Class C:  
• Change Single family structures outside of the Historic District to Class D development, with the ability 
of the Director to reclassify to a Class C if staff identifies issues. 

• Change Duplex structures outside of the Historic District to Class D development, with the ability of the 
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Director to reclassify to a Class C. 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Ms. Dudney: What are the advantages to moving from Class C to Class D? (Ms. Puester: It would reduce 

the time to create all of the reports for Class C. Staff would still do a thorough review in 
house for the file. Would skip the Planning Commission and Council consent agenda. It also 
saves time for the homeowner, about 3 weeks. Would be doing some kind of hybrid fee as 
staff would still be spending quite a bit of time reviewing and working with applicants. 
Currently, staff points out issues in the reports already or requests call ups, the Commission 
would see those still with issues). (Mr. Grosshuesch: If we give a denial recommendation on 
a Class D, we would call that up. It is a significant amount of time that we spend writing 
these up for the packet. It will give planning more time to focus on A and B applications and 
give the Planning Commission more time to read those and focus on development code 
issues.) 

Mr. Mamula: The report is not what it used to be; it is more stripped down. There are neighborhoods that 
have created their own code and we have changed things for them like requiring paved 
driveways. I agree with 90% of these things, but we will get to the point where whole 
subdivisions will be redeveloped. As a Planning Commission I would like to see to help 
direct the planning, even when they aren’t denied. Out of the 16 callups I’m glad that 4 of 
them didn’t get built. The applicant changed because of the callup process. I’m leery. I 
would like to see more reasons to bump up to us like a tear down in old neighborhood, 
ridgeline development, I would like to have this be automatically called up. The 
Commission and Council need to have some input. 

Mr. Pringle: I would concur with Mr. Mamula. Speeding things up don’t necessarily make the process 
better. We should maybe take more time on the consent calendar to make sure we do the 
Town service. We are a little less critical as a commission, which gives the staff a lot of 
latitude. We have a system that works now. Maybe we open up every consent calendar item 
in these meetings to discuss further. I would like to stay with the process we have, we’ve 
already streamlined it. It is still an important part of what we do. 

Mr. Lamb: We have some things come through like the Highlands that we trust their architectural 
board. What if we have more things beyond a steep slope like a tear down, negative points, 
whatever looks questionable to help streamline this that is called up? We have a short 
building season here so 3 weeks is important. Staff points out the issues. 

Mr. Mamula: We have looked at stuff in the Highlands. 
Ms. Dudney: I appreciate that there is tenure on this. The most difficult thing is to step back and see if we 

can streamline things, 3 weeks is a long time for homeowners especially with the percentage 
of denials. I would like to see a compromise. Could we carve out some things that we can 
agree on? But the large majority should go through, don’t assume that government has to 
add on inordinately. (Mr. Grosshuesch: We have a track record of what is going to be 
problematic; our position is when in doubt, call it up.) 

Mr. Mamula: I would like to see the raw score and if there is anything in there then I’d like to bring that 
up in these meetings. (Ms. Puester: Could we do a hybrid system like negative points, no 
envelopes, laundry list of what would go to Planning Commission?) We have a good staff 
now and trust what you guys are doing but will not always have the same staff and may not 
always be like this. 

Mr. Pringle: We are proposing to eliminate the consent calendar so that we can at least look at the report. 
Maybe a one page summary.   

Mr. Lamb: Site plan, abbreviations in one page or a summary? (Ms. Puester: We have a strong code and 
have modified it over time to address issues. Have not changed the code based on single 
family review issues in a long time. Staff points out issues that are flawed with the code. We 
have the rules on stucco and driveways and so on. So if there were to be concerns we could 
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look at those.) 
Mr. Pringle: But a lot of these happened because Planning Commission looked at it. Stucco is Mr. 

Mamula’s baby and we stopped it. (Mr. Grosshuesch: We have learned a lot because of the 
boom of single family homes and the architectural review committees work out these issues 
before we get there.) 

Mr. Schroder: We are appointed community members. I like seeing the consent calendar and I like 
knowing that planners have gone through and I like being informed as a Planning 
Commissioner. I like the suggestion of a snapshot of the consent calendar. But this is a 
Planning Commission of what the role is, maybe it is not the role to review single family 
homes, I like knowing what is coming ahead of time. Maybe a summary like you have the 
class C subdivisions.   

Ms. Christopher: I agree that our job is to help guide the development of the community and that is everything 
including the single family homes. We don’t need the full packet if that helps. 

Mr. Lamb: Anything that does not have architectural review committee, is on a hillside, ridgeline, tear 
down, has negative points, that is a slam dunk.   

Ms. Christopher: Would still like to see this info even though so that we know what is going through. 
Mr. Lamb: Would like to see save the 3 weeks for the homeowner if possible. 
Mr. Mamula: I agree with Mr. Grosshuesch that HOA review committees are tough. There are some subs 

which do not have one- Warriors Mark is a different story, glad we got as in depth as we did 
with a duplex there. (Ms. Puester: What if we come back with a draft proposal to identify the 
major points that would kick in Planning Commission review and then a briefing about 
projects that don’t come before the Commission so that you stay informed?) 

Ms. Christopher: Suggest that we kick only some of the single family homes down like HOA review 
committees but the rest comes to us. 

Mr. Pringle: Don’t want to see any changes, we’ve done enough already to streamline. 
Mr. Mamula: I don’t have any problem with this if I knew this staff would be here forever, but we’ve had 

staff members that we can’t trust. I’m worried about the future and the future quality of the 
staff. Can look into list of what would include the Planning Commission review.  

 (Ms. Puester: So is the direction to come back with draft language on what would go to 
Planning Commission and an idea of how to keep the Commission informed on all of the 
applications that have been approved or going through staff review?) 

Vote: 
Mr. Pringle: Don’t come back with proposal. 
Mr. Mamula: Come back with proposal. 
Ms. Dudney: Come back with proposal. 
Mr. Lamb: Come back with proposal. 
Ms. Christopher: Will look at proposal. 
Mr. Schroder:  Will look at proposal. 
 
• Temporary structures or uses greater than three days in duration.  Would like more direction on this with 
seasonal language.  Is 3 days the time, could it be longer, can we get a seasonal category? 

 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Ms. Christopher: What is this? (Ms. Puester: Beaver Run Summer Tent. Special Event structures are for 3 

days. Do you want to go back and think about this more or do you want us to come back 
with a proposal?) 

Ms. Dudney: Yes, the Planning Commission sees the same problems with this. (Consensus: Yes.) 
 
Class D: 
• Add Master Sign Plan Modifications. Reduces cost for the applicant, more of an incentive to update signs 
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if we drop the fees, if they are not changing square footage. This is coming as Master Sign Plan is 
outdated and we want to update the style with minor modifications. (Ms. Puester clarified: Major 
modifications would still come to Planning Commission as class C. Any new Master Sign Plans would 
still come to the Planning Commission. We want incentives for people to update their sign packages 
reduce fees from $705. Staff will define minor modifications versus major modifications.) 

 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Mr. Mamula: Make sure you look at the staff time it takes to review a sign plan and make sure the fees are 

appropriate. (Mr. Thompson: We want to make sure that landlords update their Master Sign 
Plans so that they get modernized, even though it takes more staff time to do this but it will 
be beneficial to do so.) 

Mr. Schroder: Let’s freshen the place up, like Mayor Warner talked about.  
(The Commission was unanimous with this decision.) 
 
• Add substitution of employee housing unit. Want to include more aspects, beef this language up.  
(Unanimous yes vote on this from Commission.) 
 

• Allow minor remodels and additions of less than 10% of total square footage. As long as there are no 
changes to the exterior of the structure. 

 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Mr. Schroder: I believe that this is in line with our duties. (Ms. Puester: I will wrap this in the discussion 

about single families and come back.) 
Mr. Mamula: I would like to see a square footage cap like x% or 500 square feet total for example, 

whatever makes sense so that a large addition to a 10,000 square foot house can’t fall under 
this. 

(Staff will come back with language) 
 
2. Little Red Duplex in the Historic District (MGT), 308 North French Street 
Mr. Pringle stated that Mr. Hasenstab and Ms. McCormick are the applicants and are neighbors of Mr. 
Pringle, but they have not discussed this topic previously. He is the adjacent property owner in the back. 
 
Mr. Thompson presented a proposal to construct a new duplex in the Historic District at 308 North French 
Street, former location of the Little Red Schoolhouse. The proposal calls for a 3,534 sq. ft. “mirror image” 
duplex (total square footage), with three bedrooms and four bathrooms in each of the two units. Each unit has 
a one car garage and one outdoor tandem space. Access is proposed via a shared driveway, utilizing the 
existing driveway on a neighbor’s property to the south. The proposed building is to be created from 
prefabricated units joined together. It is to be two stories in height with a substantial amount of structure 
between floors. Each side of the duplex is identical in form and detail, or a mirror image. Staff believes that 
the form and shape of buildings in this character area are of the utmost importance. The proposed mirror 
image duplex was not a form and shape seen historically in Breckenridge. Mr. Thompson discussed the 
following: 
• Priority Policy 140 (Use building forms similar to those found historically in the area) 
• Priority Policy 8 (Reinforce the visual unity of the block) 
• Priority Policy 80 (Respect the perceived building scale established by historic structures within the 
relevant character area) 

• Priority Policy 80A (Use connectors to link smaller modules and for new additions to historic structures) 
• Priority Policy 138 (New buildings should be in scale with existing historic and supporting buildings in 
the North End) 
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• Priority Policy 144 (Reinforce the typical narrow front façade widths that are typical of historic buildings 
in the area) 

• Priority Policy 142 (Building height should be similar to nearby historic buildings) 
 

Staff is seeking input on the key points described for design direction. A more detailed review will come 
before the Commission with a full development permit application. 
 
Applicant Presentation: Ms. Mary McCormick, Architect, and Mr. Garrett Hasenstab, Applicant 
Ms. McCormick: It is our intention to address and resolve these issues and that the projects contribute to the 
community. There are issues that are unclear so we need planning commission direction to fix things in the 
future. I have a revision with pulling roof line down and would like commission to see if this meets with 142? 
(Ms. Dudney: They are looking for direction from us as to where they should head, but by no means could we 
say that we approve this if you have not shown it to Staff and given them time to review the new revisions.) 
(Mr. Mamula: We don’t want to give specific design direction.) Concerns with the math that Mr. Thompson 
used and don’t agree with it. (Ms. Dudney: It is not appropriate for us to make an opinion on this, it would be 
appropriate to work with staff and see your point of view and staff’s point of view. We rely on staff for 
consistent interpretation and calculations. We can’t give you real specifics because we don’t have specific 
plans.) (Ms. Christopher: Details need to be worked out with staff in the end.) 
 
Staff had the following questions for the Planning Commission: 
1. Did the Planning Commission agree that a mirror image duplex does not meet Priority Policy 140? (Use 
building forms similar to those found historically in the area.)  

Mr. Lamb: I agree with staff interpretations.  All of the Planning Commissioners agreed with the staff 
interpretation.   
Ms. McCormick asked whether Priority Policy 140 refers to form or shape but nowhere does mirror images 
comes up, only refers to windows, rooflines. I don’t see it in the code. (Mr. Grosshuesch: It says to use 
building forms similar to the historic character area.) (Mr. Hasenstab: No duplexes were built historically, we 
would like to build a duplex within the guidelines.) 
Ms. Dudney: I don’t object to the duplex, it is the fact that the two shapes are exactly alike, there needs to be 
variation. 
Mr. Pringle: Two homes on the lot that are connected by common garage wall, we would like incorporate the 
duplex use with modules attached to make it look more like one structure, beyond just the common wall. 
Modules that make up that use, more like one structure 
Ms. Christopher: The staff is really a good resource for you for a design that would be acceptable.  
Mr. Pringle: There are examples of duplexes in the historic district that could help you. (Mr. Hasenstab: We 
are hoping for a bit more direction from the Commission, staff doesn’t give us the direction on how to solve 
our issues.) 
Mr. Mamula: We are like a court which we weigh your plans versus the code, all we are here to do is look at 
what we have here tonight and it is your job to work with staff to meet the code. We are different than the rest 
of the County in how the Town does it’s planning, especially in the Historic District.   
 
2. Did the Planning Commission agree with Staff that Priority Policy 8 is not being met? (Reinforce the 
visual unity of the block.) 

All of the Planning Commissioner’s agreed that this doesn’t reinforce the visual unity of the block. 
 
3. Did the Planning Commission believe that Priority Policy 80 is not being met? (Respect the perceived 
building scale established by historic structures within the relevant character area.) 

Mr. Pringle: Ceiling to floor space is overly large; could this be compressed to help? (Mr. Thompson: Yes I 
think this because of the prefabricated boxes.) If there was more separation between front façade and L part 
there would be more set back. 
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Everybody agreed with staff on this point. 
 
4. Did the Planning Commission believe that design standards in Priority Policy 80A (distance of separation 
provided by the connectors) are not being met?  All the Planning Commission agreed 80A was not being 
met.   

The design is going to be so different and so right now this is not met. All of these questions are interrelated.  
Ms. McCormick: We thought this was a work session that would be conversational with the Planning 
Commission. 
Ms. Dudney: I don’t think I could imagine that we would go against staff in mathematical calculations. These 
need to be taken up with staff. 
Ms. Christopher: What is in our packet is what we see. We don’t expect new material that Staff has not had 
time to review.   
 
5. Did the Planning Commission agree with Staff that Priority Policy 144 is not being met? (Front façade of 
a building may not exceed 30’ in width.) 

Planning Commission agreed with staff. 
Mr. Mamula: Project 228 South High: 4 lots; we were very specific about the front facades these are good 
examples, don’t look at the other structures on the block that were built before the code was created, look at 
PJ’s house when you are trying to meet code, look at the surviving historic structures.   
Mr. Pringle: The homes to the north of you are the direction to go and follow for design. 
 
6. Does the Planning Commission agree that the front façade should be one or one and a half stories as 
required by Priority Policy 142 and that the current design does not meet this priority policy? 

Ms. Dudney: Overall, we are behind the staff unanimously, it needs to follow the nice historic buildings on 
your block, which are one or one and a half stories.   
Mr. Pringle: All the priority policies need to be met. When you have a list of 6 failing priority policies, hence 
failing 5/A Architectural Compatibility, you will need some major rethinking on the design. 
 
Staff welcomed any additional comments. 
 
Ms. Dudney: Even though code says max 23’ you think what is important is 1 ½ stories? (Mr. Thompson: 
This is correct. 1 to 1 ½ stories is the historic character of the area.) 
  
TOWN PROJECT HEARINGS:  
1. Cucumber Gulch Wetland Channel Restoration (SR) PC#2013074 
Mr. Reid presented that the Town is proposing to restore wetlands and beaver pond habitat in the Upper 
Cucumber Gulch area. The site is located immediately across Ski Hill Road from the Peak 8 Base Area 
development. As anticipated in 2012, Town staff is now focused on phase two of the wetland restoration 
which involves restoring the Boreas Creek stream channel. This proposed second phase is intended to: 
1. Reduce the speed, and therefore erosive force, of the water flow in the incised Boreas Creek channel. 
2. Raise the Boreas Creek channel elevation to reduce its draining effect on the adjoining wetlands. 
3. Install log deadfall areas to stabilize the stream channel and reduce future erosion. 
4. Create additional wetland habitat. 
5. Protect the investment in the existing Cucumber wetland restoration by reducing erosion and 
sedimentation in the downstream beaver ponds. 

 
The Breckenridge Open Space Advisory Commission (BOSAC) was made aware of this project and reviewed 
this concept in fall 2012, and more recently at its August 19th meeting. BOSAC unanimously recommended 
proceeding with the proposed channel restoration, and to pursue approval for a Town Project through the 

-11-



Town of Breckenridge Date 09/03/2013   
Planning Commission – Regular Meeting Page 9 
 
 

 
 

Planning Commission and Town Council.  BOSAC recommended prompt action be taken to address the 
ongoing concerns in Upper Cucumber Gulch. 
 
Alternatives to channel restoration are 1) no action, 2) implement a more standard weir and drop-structure 
approach, or 3) implement portions of the proposal, but not the entirety. The Town’s consultants (Ecometrics 
and Johnson Environmental, Inc.) have contributed their input into the proposal design, and have agreed that 
the proposed plan is the most appropriate course of action for this site. 
 
This is a Town Project pursuant to the recently adopted ordinance amending the Town Projects Process 
(Council Bill No. 1, Series 2013), effective April 12, 2013. As a result, the Planning Commission is asked to 
identify any code issues they may have with this application. In addition, the Commission is asked to make a 
recommendation to the Town Council. Staff suggested that the Planning Commission recommend approval of 
the Cucumber Gulch Channel Restoration to the Town Council, PC#2013074, with the presented Findings. 
 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
No commissioner questions or comments. 
 
Ms. Dudney opened the hearing to public comment. There was no public comment, and the hearing was 
closed. 
 
Mr. Mamula made a motion to recommend the Town Council approve the Cucumber Gulch Wetland Channel 
Restoration, PC#2013074, with the presented Findings. Ms. Christopher seconded, and the motion was 
carried unanimously (6-0). 
 
2. Forest Health for MBJ and Wedge Parcels (SR) PC#2013075 
Mr. Reid stated the Town is proposing a forest health treatment in Cucumber Gulch Preserve, specifically 
addressing standing dead lodgepole pines and deadfall on the former MBJ and Wedge parcels. These two 
parcels were acquired relatively recently by the Town and warrant tree removal in upland areas to reduce 
wildfire risk, diversify wildlife habitat, clean up a portion of the new open space, and remove standing dead 
tree hazards. The site is located immediately across Ski Hill Road from National Forest Lands and 
undeveloped private property. Protection of the Cucumber Gulch Preserve is a high priority for the Town of 
Breckenridge and its open space program. Town staff is working with qualified consultants to identify and 
address threats to the ecosystem health. The presented proposal is designed to fulfill that goal by improving 
forest health in Cucumber Gulch’s dry uplands. 
 
This is a Town Project pursuant to the recently adopted ordinance amending the Town Projects Process 
(Council Bill No. 1, Series 2013), effective April 12, 2013. As a result, the Planning Commission is asked to 
identify any code issues they may have with this application. In addition, the Commission is asked to make a 
recommendation to the Town Council. Staff suggested that the Planning Commission recommend approval of 
the MBJ/ Cucumber Wedge Forest Health Project to the Town Council, PC#2013075, with the presented 
Findings. 
 
Commissioner Questions / Comments: 
Ms. Dudney: We appreciate all of your efforts. 
Mr. Pringle: Prescribed burning used here? (Mr. Reid: No, these logs will be hauled out with a little left.) 
 
Ms. Dudney opened the hearing to public comment. There was no public comment and the hearing was 
closed. 
 
Mr. Mamula made a motion to recommend the Town Council approve the Forest Health for MBJ and Wedge 
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Parcels, PC#2013075, with the presented Findings. Ms. Christopher seconded, and the motion was carried 
unanimously (6-0). 
 
OTHER MATTERS: 
Anyone interested in the State APA conference it is coming in early October in Vail. Ms. Dudney will not be 
here for first meeting in October. 
 
Mr. Mamula: Other retailers in town have made comments that sign enforcement is not being followed. We 
have strayed from intent. 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  
The meeting was adjourned at 9:30 pm. 
 
   
 Gretchen Dudney, Chair 
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Proposal:

Project Name/PC#: Goldreyer Residence PC#2013076

Project Manager: Shane Greenburg

Date of Report: September 11, 2013 For the September 17, 2013 Planning Commission Meeting

Applicant/Owner:

Agent:

Proposed Use:

Address:

Legal Description:

Site Area: 30,958 sq. ft. 0.71 acres

Land Use District (2A/2R):

Existing Site Conditions:

Density (3A/3R): Allowed: Unlimited Proposed: 7,866 sq. ft.

Mass (4R): Allowed: Unlimited Proposed: 8,999 sq. ft.

F.A.R. 1:3.44 FAR

Areas: Proposed

Lower Level: 3,252 sq. ft.

Main Level: 3,928 sq. ft.

Upper Level: 686 sq. ft.

Garage: 1,133 sq. ft.

Total: 8,999 sq. ft.

Bedrooms: 7

Bathrooms: 8.5           

Height (6A/6R): 35 feet overall

(Max 35’ for single family outside Conservation District)

Lot Coverage/Open Space 
(21R):

 Building / non-Permeable: 6,050 sq. ft. 19.54%

Hard Surface/Non-Permeable: 3,066 sq. ft. 9.90%

Open Space / Permeable: 21,842 sq. ft. 70.55%

Parking (18A/18/R):

Required: 2 spaces

Proposed: 3 spaces

Snowstack (13A/13R):

Required: 767 sq. ft. (25% of paved surfaces)

Proposed: 794 sq. ft. (25.90% of paved surfaces)

Fireplaces (30A/30R): 3 gas, 1 wood, 2 gas outdoor firepits

Class C Development Review Check List

Construct a new single family home

Lot 21, Timber Trail

LUD 40; 1 Unit per 3 Acres; Residential - Single Family, Duplex, up to 4-Plex

This lot is bordered by a ski run on the west side.  The lot is accessed through an existing private 
drive which branches off of Timber Trail Rd.  The lot is heavily wooded with uniform, medium-sized 
lodgepole pines.  No specimen trees exist.  The lot slopes up from the private drive at a consistent 
15% grade. 

Eric & Liz Goldreyer

BHH Partners

Single Family Residence

442 Timber Trail Road
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Building/Disturbance 
Envelope?      Disturbance Envelope

Setbacks (9A/9R): Within the disturbance envelope

Within the disturbance envelope

Within the disturbance envelope

Within the disturbance envelope

Architectural Compatibility                   
(5/A & 5/R):

Exterior Materials: 

Roof:

Garage:

Landscaping (22A/22R):

Planting Type Quantity Size

Colorado Spruce 7 4@ 6' tall
3@ 12' - 14' tall

Aspen 16 8@2" and 8@3" caliper, 50% multistem
Shrubs

(Potentilla, Buffalo Juniper, 
Peking Cotoneaster)

30 5 Gal.

Defensible Space:
Drainage (27A/27R): 

Driveway Slope: 8 % Driveway off private drive

Point Analysis                          
(Sec. 9-1-17-3):      

Staff Action:      

Positive drainage away from the structure. 

The Community Development Department has approved the single family residence on Lot 21, 
Timber Trail Subdivision, PC#2013076, with the attached Standard Findings and Conditions.

Staff conducted an informal point analysis and found no reason to warrant positive or negative 
points.  The application meets all Absolute and Relative Policies of the Development Code.

The proposed residence will be architecturally compatible with the neighborhood. 

Wood

2x12 Channel Rustic - Benjamin Moore "Chestnut"; Timber Beams and Columns - Benjamin Moore 
"Oxford Brown"; Vertical Siding - Barn Boards - Browns & Grays;  Window Clad and Flashing - 
Sierra Pacific "Colonial Red", Trim and Facsia - Benjamin Moore "Cordovan Brown"; Natural Stone 
Veneer Base - Eagle Moss Rock "Dry Stacked"

Synthetic Shake Shingle - Davinci "Tahoe" 

Complies- will field verify on site
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TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 

Goldreyer Residence 
Lot 21, Timber Trail Subdivision 

422 Timber Trail Road 
PC#2013076 

 
FINDINGS 

 
1. The project is in accord with the Development Code and does not propose a prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives, which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated September 11, 2013, and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project.  Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on September 17, 2013, as to 
the nature of the project.  In addition to Commission minutes, the meetings of the Commission are recorded. 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 

1. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the applicant 
accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town 
of Breckenridge. 

 
2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 

proceedings, may, if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of work, revoke this permit, 
require removal of any improvements made in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the 
property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
3. This permit expires eighteen (18) months from date of issuance, on March 24, 2015 unless a building permit 

has been issued and substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken place. In addition, if this permit is not 
signed and returned to the Town within 30 days from the permit mailing date, the duration of the permit shall 
be 18 months, but without the benefit of any vested property right. 

 
4. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms. 
 
5. Nothing in this permit shall constitute an agreement by the Town of Breckenridge to issue a certificate of 

occupancy for the project covered by this permit. The determination of whether a certificate of occupancy 
should be issued for such project shall be made by the Town in accordance with the applicable provisions 
of the Town Code, including, but not limited to the building code. 

 
6. Driveway culverts shall be 18-inch heavy-duty corrugated polyethylene pipe with flared end sections and a 

minimum of 12 inches of cover over the pipe. Applicant shall be responsible for any grading necessary to 
allow the drainage ditch to flow unobstructed to and from the culvert. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff has approved this application with the following Findings and 
Conditions and recommends the Planning Commission uphold this decision.  
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7. Applicant shall field locate utility service lines to avoid existing trees. 
 

8. An improvement location certificate of the height of the top of the foundation wall and the height of the 
building’s ridge must be submitted and approved by the Town during the various phases of construction.  The 
final building height shall not exceed 35’ at any location. 

 
9. All hazardous materials used in construction of the improvements authorized by this permit shall be disposed 

of properly off site. 
 
10. Each structure which is authorized to be developed pursuant to this permit shall be deemed to be a separate 

phase of the development.  In order for the vested property rights associated with this permit to be extended 
pursuant to Section 9-1-17-11(D) of the Breckenridge Development Code, substantial construction must be 
achieved for each structure within the vested right period of this permit. 

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT 

 
11. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town Engineer of final drainage, grading, utility, and 

erosion control plans. 
 

12. Applicant shall provide plans stamped by a registered professional engineer licensed in Colorado, to the Town 
Engineer for all retaining walls over four feet in height. 

 
13. Any exposed foundation wall in excess of 12 inches shall be finished (i.e. textured or painted) in accordance 

with the Breckenridge Development Code Section 9-1-19-5R. 
 

14. Applicant shall identify all existing trees, which are specified on the site plan to be retained, by erecting 
temporary fence barriers around the trees to prevent unnecessary root compaction during construction. 
Construction disturbance shall not occur beyond the fence barriers, and dirt and construction materials or 
debris shall not be placed on the fencing. The temporary fence barriers are to remain in place until issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy. 

 
15. Existing trees designated on the site plan for preservation which die due to site disturbance and/or 

construction activities will be required to be replaced at staff discretion with equivalent new trees, i.e. loss of a 
12 inch diameter tree flagged for retention will be offset with the addition of four 3-inch diameter new trees. 

 
16. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town of a construction staging plan indicating the 

location of all construction material storage, fill and excavation material storage areas, portolet and dumpster 
locations, and employee vehicle parking areas.  No staging is permitted within public right of way without 
Town permission.  Any dirt tracked upon the public road shall be the applicant’s responsibility to remove. 
Contractor parking within the public right of way is not permitted without the express permission of the 
Town, and cars must be moved for snow removal.  A project contact person is to be selected and the name 
provided to the Public Works Department prior to issuance of the building permit.   

 
17. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from Town staff of a cut sheet detail for all exterior 

lighting on the site. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light 
source and shall cast light downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from 
finished grade or 7’ above upper decks. 
 

18. Applicant shall submit to and obtain approval from the Department of Community Development a 
defensible space plan showing trees proposed for removal and the approximate location of new 
landscaping, including species and size. Applicant shall meet with Community Development 
Department staff on the Applicant’s property to mark trees for removal and review proposed new 
landscaping to meet the requirements of Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping, for the purpose of 
creating defensible space. 
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PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 

 

19. Applicant shall revegetate all disturbed areas with a minimum of 2 inches topsoil, seed and mulch. 
 
20. Applicant shall remove leaf clutter, dead branches and dead standing trees from the property, dead branches 

on living trees shall be trimmed to a minimum height of six (6) feet and a maximum height of ten (10) feet 
above the ground. 
 

21. Applicant shall remove all vegetation and combustible material from under all eaves and decks. 
 

22. Applicant shall create defensible space around all structures as required in Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping 
for all existing trees. 

 
23. Applicant shall paint all garage doors, metal flashing, vents, flues, rooftop mechanical equipment, meters, and 

utility boxes on the building a flat, dark color or to match the building color. 
 

24. Applicant shall screen all utilities. 
 

25. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast light 
downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from finished grade or 7’ above upper 
decks. 

 
26. At all times during the course of the work on the development authorized by this permit, the permittee shall 

refrain from depositing any dirt, mud, sand, gravel, rubbish, trash, wastepaper, garbage, construction 
material, or any other waste material of any kind upon the public street(s) adjacent to the construction site. 
Town shall provide oral notification to permittee if Town believes that permittee has violated this 
condition. If permittee fails to clean up any material deposited on the street(s) in violation of this condition 
within 24 hours of oral notice from Town, permittee agrees that the Town may clean up such material 
without further notice and permittee agrees to reimburse the Town for the costs incurred by the Town in 
cleaning the streets.  Town shall be required to give notice to permittee of a violation of this condition only 
once during the term of this permit.  

 
27. The development project approved by this Permit must be constructed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, which were approved by the Town in connection with the Development Permit application. 
Any material deviation from the approved plans and specifications without Town approval as a 
modification may result in the Town issuing a Stop Work Order and/or not issuing a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Compliance for the project, and/or other appropriate legal action under the Town’s 
development regulations.  A Stop Work Order may not be released until a modification to the permit is 
reviewed and approved by the Town.  Based upon the magnitude of the modification, another hearing 
before the Planning Commission may be required. 

 
28. No Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance will be issued by the Town until: (i) all work done 

pursuant to this permit is determined by the Town to be in compliance with the approved plans and 
specifications for the project, and all applicable Town codes, ordinances and standards, and (ii) all conditions 
of approval set forth in the Development Permit for this project have been properly satisfied.  If either of these 
requirements cannot be met due to prevailing weather conditions, the Town may issue a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance if the permittee enters into a Cash Deposit Agreement providing that 
the permittee will deposit with the Town a cash bond, or other acceptable surety, equal to at least 125% of the 
estimated cost of completing any required work or any applicable condition of approval, and establishing the 
deadline for the completion of such work or the satisfaction of the condition of approval. The form of the 
Cash Deposit Agreement shall be subject to approval of the Town Attorney. “Prevailing weather conditions” 
generally means that work can not be done due to excessive snow and/or frozen ground. As a general rule, a 
cash bond or other acceptable surety will only be accepted by the Town between November 1 and May 
31 of the following year. The final decision to accept a bond as a guarantee will be made by the Town of 
Breckenridge.  
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29. Applicant shall submit the written statement concerning contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers 

required in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, Series 2004. 
 

30. The development authorized by this Development Permit may be subject to the development impact fee 
imposed by Resolution 2006-05 of the Summit County Housing Authority.  Such resolution implements the 
impact fee approved by the electors at the general election held November 7, 2006.  Pursuant to 
intergovernmental agreement among the members of the Summit Combined Housing Authority, the Town 
of Breckenridge is authorized to administer and collect any impact fee which is due in connection with 
development occurring within the Town.  For this purpose, the Town has issued administrative rules and 
regulations which govern the Town’s administration and collection of the impact fee.  Applicant will pay 
any required impact fee for the development authorized by this Development Permit prior to the issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

   
 (Initial Here) 
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Proposal:

Project Name/PC#: Hart Residence PC#2013077

Project Manager: Michael Mosher, Planner III

Date of Report: September 5, 2013 For the September 17, 2013 Meeting

Applicant/Owner:

Agent:

Proposed Use:

Address:

Legal Description:

Site Area: 15,604 sq. ft. 0.36 acres

Land Use District (2A/2R):

Existing Site Conditions:

Density (3A/3R): Unlimited Proposed: 3,620 sq. ft.
Mass (4A): (Subject to the 
Town's Neighborhood 
Preservation Ordinance) - 593 
SF of garage not counted

Allowed: 3,467 sq. ft. Proposed: 3,443 sq. ft.

Mass (4A/4R): (With garage 
included) Proposed: 4,036 sq. ft.

F.A.R. 1:4.53 FAR

Areas: Proposed Existing

Lower Level: 1,442 sq. ft.

Main Level: 1,678 sq. ft.

Accessory Apartment: 500 sq. ft.

Garage: 593 sq. ft.

Total: 4,213 sq. ft.

Bedrooms: 5

Bathrooms: 5

Height (6A/6R): 35 feet overall

Lot Coverage/Open Space 
(21R):

 Building / non-Permeable: 4,002 sq. ft. 25.65%

Hard Surface/Non-Permeable: 1,658 sq. ft. 10.63%

Open Space / Permeable: 9,944 sq. ft. 63.73%

Parking (18A/18/R):

Required: 3 spaces Assessory Unit adds 1 additional space requirement

(Max 35’ for single family outside Conservation District)

Michele Hart

Ben Henson, Allen Guerra Architects

Single-family Residence with Accessory Apartment

201 South Pine Street

Lot 14, Gold Flake II Subdivision

12 Residential @ 2 UPA - Subject to the Gold flake II Subdivision

The property slopes downhill East to West at 11%. It is moderately wooded with 
Lodgepole Pines. A 10-foot wide access, utility and drainage easement lies along the 
north property line there is an existing log rail fence flanking each side of the existing 
path within this easement. A 12.5-foot wide utility and drainage easement lies along 
the west property line. There is an existing sewer manhole at the northwest corner of 
the property. An existing Gold Flake II monument sign is located partially on the 
property at the northeast corner.

Class C Development Review Check List

Hart Residence -  Residence with Accessory Apartment
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Proposed: 5 spaces

Snowstack (13A/13R):

Required: 415 sq. ft. (25% of paved surfaces)

Proposed: 415 sq. ft. (25.03% of paved surfaces)

Fireplaces (30A/30R): 1 Gas Fired

Accessory Apartment: YES

Meets Criteria: The total dwelling area of the unit is no 
greater in size than one-third (1/3) of the total dwelling 
area of the single-family unit. The total dwelling area of 
the unit is no greater in size than one thousand two 
hundred (1,200) square feet.

Building/Disturbance 
Envelope?      No

Setbacks (9A/9R): Front: 35 ft.

Side: 27 ft. Side setbacks exceed 50' combined setbacks minimum

Side: 30 ft.

Rear: 18 ft.

Architectural Compatibility                   
(5/A & 5/R):

Exterior Materials: 

Roof:

Garage Doors:

Landscaping (22A/22R):

Planting Type Quantity Size

Colorado Spruce 8 3 @ 10 feet tall, 3 @ 12 feet tall and 2 @ 14 feet tall

Aspen 27 14 @ 1.5 inch caliper and 13 @ 2 inch caliper- 50% 
multi-stem

Shrubs and perennials 19 5 Gal.

Defensible Space:

Drainage (27A/27R): 

Driveway Slope: 8 %

Covenants:

Point Analysis                                    
(Sec. 9-1-17-3):      

Staff Action:      

Comments:      

Additional Conditions of 
Approval:      

Prior to Issuance of Building Permit:
Applicant shall submit for review and approval by town staff a color and material board 
showing that all finishes proposed are in compliance with section 9-1-19-5R,  Policy 5 
(Relative) Architectural Compatibility. Exterior building materials and colors should not 
unduly contrast with the site's background. Inappropriate exterior building materials 
include, but are not limited to, and textured expose concrete, and textured or 
unfinished unit masonry, highly reflective glass, reflective metal roof, and unpainted 
aluminum window frames.

The elevations show the use of natural cedar vertical siding, trim, fascia and soffit. The 
lower level and chimney are wrapped in natural stone. However there are large areas 
of steel paneling and aluminum paneling (none over 25% on one elevation). The deck 
rails are made of steel the garage doors are made of aluminum. The doors and 
windows are made of fiberglass and the decking is composite wood.

Standing Seam Aluminum - Matte Silver Finish

The applicant has not obtained approval from the Gold Flake HOA.  As a result, this 
application may need to be resubmitted for review if there are any significant changes 
needed.

Complies with all Absolute Policies and has not been awarded any negative or positive 
points under any Relative Policies.
Staff has approved the Hart Residence with Accessory Apartment, PC#2013077, with 
the Attached Findings and Conditions

Standard Assessory Unit Covenants

Complies - Will field verify conditions on-site with Building Permit Release

Positive drainage away from structure

The colors and building forms abide with this policy. This proposal is similar to other 
homes in the neighborhood.

Aluminum - Matte Finish
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TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 

Hart Residence - Residence with Accessory Apartment 
Lot 14, Gold Flake II Subdivision 

201 South Pine Street 
PC#2013077 

 

 
FINDINGS 

 
1. The project is in accord with the Development Code and does not propose a prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives, which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated September 5, 2013, and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project.  Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on September 17, 2013 as to 
the nature of the project.  In addition to Commission minutes, the audio of the meetings of the Commission 
are recorded. 

 
CONDITIONS 

 
1. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the applicant 

accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town 
of Breckenridge. 

 
2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 

proceedings, may, if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of work, revoke this permit, 
require removal of any improvements made in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the 
property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
3. This permit expires eighteen (18) months from date of issuance, on March 24, 2013, unless a building permit 

has been issued and substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken place. In addition, if this permit is not 
signed and returned to the Town within 30 days from the permit mailing date, the duration of the permit shall 
be 18 months, but without the benefit of any vested property right. 

 
4. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms. 
 
5. Nothing in this permit shall constitute an agreement by the Town of Breckenridge to issue a certificate of 

occupancy for the project covered by this permit. The determination of whether a certificate of occupancy 
should be issued for such project shall be made by the Town in accordance with the applicable provisions 
of the Town Code, including, but not limited to the building code. 

 
6. Driveway culverts shall be 18-inch heavy-duty corrugated polyethylene pipe with flared end sections and a 

minimum of 12 inches of cover over the pipe. Applicant shall be responsible for any grading necessary to 
allow the drainage ditch to flow unobstructed to and from the culvert. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff has approved this application with the following Findings and 
Conditions and recommends the Planning Commission uphold this decision.  
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7. Applicant shall field locate utility service lines to avoid existing trees. 

 
8. An improvement location certificate of the height of the top of the foundation wall and the height of the 

building’s ridge must be submitted and approved by the Town during the various phases of construction.  The 
final building height shall not exceed 35’ at any location. 

 
9. All hazardous materials used in construction of the improvements authorized by this permit shall be disposed 

of properly off site. 
 
10. Each structure which is authorized to be developed pursuant to this permit shall be deemed to be a separate 

phase of the development.  In order for the vested property rights associated with this permit to be extended 
pursuant to Section 9-1-17-11(D) of the Breckenridge Development Code, substantial construction must be 
achieved for each structure within the vested right period of this permit. 

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT 

 
11. Applicant shall submit proof of ownership of the project site.  

 
12. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town Engineer of final drainage, grading, utility, and 

erosion control plans. 
 

13. Applicant shall provide plans stamped by a registered professional engineer licensed in Colorado, to the Town 
Engineer for all retaining walls over four feet in height. 
 

14. Applicant shall submit for review and approval by town staff a color and material board showing that 
all finishes proposed are in compliance with section 9-1-19-5R, Policy 5 (Relative) Architectural 
Compatibility. Exterior building materials and colors should not unduly contrast with the site's 
background. Inappropriate exterior building materials include, but are not limited to, and textured 
expose concrete, and textured or unfinished unit masonry, highly reflective glass, reflective metal roof, 
and unpainted aluminum window frames. 

 
15. Any exposed foundation wall in excess of 12 inches shall be finished (i.e. textured or painted) in accordance 

with the Breckenridge Development Code Section 9-1-19-5R. 
 

16. Applicant shall identify all existing trees, which are specified on the site plan to be retained, by erecting 
temporary fence barriers around the trees to prevent unnecessary root compaction during construction. 
Construction disturbance shall not occur beyond the fence barriers, and dirt and construction materials or 
debris shall not be placed on the fencing. The temporary fence barriers are to remain in place until issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy. 
 

17. Existing trees designated on the site plan for preservation which die due to site disturbance and/or 
construction activities will be required to be replaced at staff discretion with equivalent new trees, i.e. loss of a 
12 inch diameter tree flagged for retention will be offset with the addition of four 3-inch diameter new trees. 

 
18. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town of a construction staging plan indicating the 

location of all construction material storage, fill and excavation material storage areas, portolet and dumpster 
locations, and employee vehicle parking areas.  No staging is permitted within public right of way without 
Town permission.  Any dirt tracked upon the public road shall be the applicant’s responsibility to remove. 
Contractor parking within the public right of way is not permitted without the express permission of the 
Town, and cars must be moved for snow removal.  A project contact person is to be selected and the name 
provided to the Public Works Department prior to issuance of the building permit.   

 
19. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from Town staff of a cut sheet detail for all exterior lighting on the 

site. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast 
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light downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from finished grade or 7’ above 
upper decks. 

 
20. Applicant shall submit to and obtain approval from the Department of Community Development a 
defensible space plan showing trees proposed for removal and the approximate location of new 
landscaping, including species and size. Applicant shall meet with Community Development 
Department staff on the Applicant’s property to mark trees for removal and review proposed new 
landscaping to meet the requirements of Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping, for the purpose of 
creating defensible space. 
 

PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 
21. Applicant shall revegetate all disturbed areas with a minimum of 2 inches topsoil, seed and mulch. 
 
22. Applicant shall remove leaf clutter, dead branches and dead standing trees from the property, dead branches 

on living trees shall be trimmed to a minimum height of six (6) feet and a maximum height of ten (10) feet 
above the ground. 
 

23. Applicant shall execute and record with the Summit County Clerk and Recorder a covenant restricting 
the sale of the accessory unit from the single-family residence, in a form acceptable to the Town 
Attorney. The covenant shall restrict the accessory unit and single-family residence to be held in the 
same name.   
 

24. Applicant shall remove all vegetation and combustible material from under all eaves and decks. 
 

25. Applicant shall create defensible space around all structures as required in Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping. 
 

26. Applicant shall paint all garage doors, metal flashing, vents, flues, rooftop mechanical equipment, meters, and 
utility boxes on the building a flat, dark color or to match the building color. 

 
27. Applicant shall screen all utilities. 

 
28. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast light 

downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from finished grade or 7’ above upper 
decks. 

 
29. At all times during the course of the work on the development authorized by this permit, the permittee shall 

refrain from depositing any dirt, mud, sand, gravel, rubbish, trash, wastepaper, garbage, construction 
material, or any other waste material of any kind upon the public street(s) adjacent to the construction site. 
Town shall provide oral notification to permittee if Town believes that permittee has violated this 
condition. If permittee fails to clean up any material deposited on the street(s) in violation of this condition 
within 24 hours of oral notice from Town, permittee agrees that the Town may clean up such material 
without further notice and permittee agrees to reimburse the Town for the costs incurred by the Town in 
cleaning the streets.  Town shall be required to give notice to permittee of a violation of this condition only 
once during the term of this permit.  

 
30. The development project approved by this Permit must be constructed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, which were approved by the Town in connection with the Development Permit application. 
Any material deviation from the approved plans and specifications without Town approval as a 
modification may result in the Town issuing a Stop Work Order and/or not issuing a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Compliance for the project, and/or other appropriate legal action under the Town’s 
development regulations.  A Stop Work Order may not be released until a modification to the permit is 
reviewed and approved by the Town.  Based upon the magnitude of the modification, another hearing 
before the Planning Commission may be required. 

 
31. No Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance will be issued by the Town until: (i) all work done 

pursuant to this permit is determined by the Town to be in compliance with the approved plans and 
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specifications for the project, and all applicable Town codes, ordinances and standards, and (ii) all conditions 
of approval set forth in the Development Permit for this project have been properly satisfied.  If either of these 
requirements cannot be met due to prevailing weather conditions, the Town may issue a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance if the permittee enters into a Cash Deposit Agreement providing that 
the permittee will deposit with the Town a cash bond, or other acceptable surety, equal to at least 125% of the 
estimated cost of completing any required work or any applicable condition of approval, and establishing the 
deadline for the completion of such work or the satisfaction of the condition of approval. The form of the 
Cash Deposit Agreement shall be subject to approval of the Town Attorney. “Prevailing weather conditions” 
generally means that work can not be done due to excessive snow and/or frozen ground. As a general rule, a 
cash bond or other acceptable surety will only be accepted by the Town between November 1 and May 
31 of the following year. The final decision to accept a bond as a guarantee will be made by the Town of 
Breckenridge.  

 
32. Applicant shall submit the written statement concerning contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers 

required in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, Series 2004. 
 

33. The development authorized by this Development Permit may be subject to the development impact fee 
imposed by Resolution 2006-05 of the Summit County Housing Authority.  Such resolution implements the 
impact fee approved by the electors at the general election held November 7, 2006.  Pursuant to 
intergovernmental agreement among the members of the Summit Combined Housing Authority, the Town 
of Breckenridge is authorized to administer and collect any impact fee which is due in connection with 
development occurring within the Town.  For this purpose, the Town has issued administrative rules and 
regulations which govern the Town’s administration and collection of the impact fee.  Applicant will pay 
any required impact fee for the development authorized by this Development Permit prior to the issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

   
 (Initial Here) 
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Proposal:

Project Name/PC#: Hauer Residence

Project Manager: Matt Thompson

Date of Report: September 11, 2012 For the September 17, 2013 Meeting

Applicant/Owner:

Agent:

Proposed Use:

Address:

Legal Description:

Site Area: 47,711 sq. ft. 1.10 acres

Land Use District (2A/2R):

Existing Site Conditions:

Density (3A/3R): Unlimited Proposed: 4,692 sq. ft.

Mass (4R): Unlimited Proposed: 5,722 sq. ft.  

F.A.R. 1:11.00 FAR

Areas: Proposed

Lower Level: 1,904 sq. ft.

Main Level: 2,788 sq. ft.

Upper Level:

Accessory Apartment:

Garage: 1,030 sq. ft.

Total: 5,722 sq. ft.

Bedrooms: 4

Bathrooms: 5

Height (6A/6R): 30 feet overall

Lot Coverage/Open Space 
(21R):

 Building / non-Permeable: 6,157 sq. ft. 12.90%

Hard Surface/Non-Permeable: 3,724 sq. ft. 7.81%

Open Space / Permeable: 37,830 sq. ft. 79.29%

Parking (18A/18/R):

Required: 2 spaces

(Max 35’ for single family outside Conservation District)

Kris and Alicia Hauer

Pete Campbell Construction

Single family residence

312 Westerman Road

Lot 18, Highlands at Breckenridge, Filing 10

1: Subject to the Delaware Flats Master Plan

The property slopes steeply uphill at 19% from Westerman Road.  The lot is moderately 
covered in lodgepole pines, spruce and fir trees.  There is a 10' snowstack easement 
along Westerman Road and a 10' utility easement along the eastern property line.  

Class C Development Review Check List

To construct a new single family residence
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Proposed: 3 spaces

Snowstack (13A/13R):

Required: 931 sq. ft. (25% of paved surfaces)

Proposed: 1,004 sq. ft. (26.96% of paved surfaces)

Fireplaces (30A/30R): 3 gas, one EPA Phase II wood burner

Accessory Apartment: NO

Building/Disturbance 
Envelope?      Disturbance envelope

Setbacks (9A/9R): Front: within disturbance envelope

Side: within disturbance envelope

Side: within disturbance envelope

Architectural Compatibility                   
(5/A & 5/R):

Exterior Materials: 

Roof:

Garage Doors:

Landscaping (22A/22R):

Planting Type Quantity Size

Colorado Spruce 8 10' - 12'

Aspen 17 2"-3" inch caliper - 50% of each and 50% multi-stem

Shrubs and perennials 14 5 Gal.

Defensible Space (22/A):

Drainage (27A/27R): 

Driveway Slope: 6 % Driveway designed around existing grade

Covenants:

Point Analysis                          
(Sec. 9-1-17-3):      

Staff Action:      

Comments:      

Additional Conditions of 
Approval:      

The primary siding is hand hewn plank and chink horizontal cedar, board and batten full 
height vertical siding 1x4 and 1x10 rough sawn cedar, board and batten gable ends 
random width 1x4 and 1x10 reclaimed 75% reds and 25% grays, rough sawn douglas fir 
fascia, soffit and timbers, with a natural "Farmers Blend" dry stack veneer with buff 
stone caps.  

Primary roofing material is asphalt shingles (Tamko Heritage - Weathered Wood) with 
rusty brown corrugated accent metal roofing.

Staff has conducted an informal pointy analysis and found no reason to warrant positive 
or negative points.  This application meets all Absolute and Relative policies of the 
Development Code.  

Staff has approved the Hauer Residence, PC#2013081, located at 312 Westerman 
Road, Lot 18 Highlands Filing 10, with the attached Standard Findings and Conditions.  

Proposal does comply

Positive, away from residence

The residence will be architecturally compatible with the neighborhood.  

Custom wood garage doors.

Rear: within disturbance envelope
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TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 

Hauer Residence 
Lot 18, Highlands at Breckenridge, Filing 10 

312 Westerman Road 
PC#2013081 

 

 
FINDINGS 

 
1. The project is in accord with the Development Code and does not propose a prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives, which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated September 11, 2013, and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project.  Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on September 17, 2013, as to 
the nature of the project.  In addition to Commission minutes, the audio of the meetings of the Commission 
are recorded. 

 
CONDITIONS 

 
1. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the applicant 

accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town 
of Breckenridge. 

 
2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 

proceedings, may, if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of work, revoke this permit, 
require removal of any improvements made in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the 
property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
3. This permit expires eighteen (18) months from date of issuance, on March 24, 2015, unless a building permit 

has been issued and substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken place. In addition, if this permit is not 
signed and returned to the Town within 30 days from the permit mailing date, the duration of the permit shall 
be 18 months, but without the benefit of any vested property right. 

 
4. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms. 
 
5. Nothing in this permit shall constitute an agreement by the Town of Breckenridge to issue a certificate of 

occupancy for the project covered by this permit. The determination of whether a certificate of occupancy 
should be issued for such project shall be made by the Town in accordance with the applicable provisions 
of the Town Code, including, but not limited to the building code. 

 
6. Driveway culverts shall be 18-inch heavy-duty corrugated polyethylene pipe with flared end sections and a 

minimum of 12 inches of cover over the pipe. Applicant shall be responsible for any grading necessary to 
allow the drainage ditch to flow unobstructed to and from the culvert. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff has approved this application with the following Findings and 
Conditions and recommends the Planning Commission uphold this decision.  
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7. At the point where the driveway opening ties into the road, the driveway shall continue for five feet at the 

same cross slope grade as the road before sloping to the residence.  This is to prevent snowplow equipment 
from damaging the new driveway pavement. 

 
8. Applicant shall field locate utility service lines to avoid existing trees. 

 
9. An improvement location certificate of the height of the top of the foundation wall and the height of the 

building’s ridge must be submitted and approved by the Town during the various phases of construction.  The 
final building height shall not exceed 35’ at any location. 

 
10. At no time shall site disturbance extend beyond the limits of the platted site disturbance envelope, including 

building excavation, and access for equipment necessary to construct the residence. 
 

11. All hazardous materials used in construction of the improvements authorized by this permit shall be disposed 
of properly off site. 

 
12. Each structure which is authorized to be developed pursuant to this permit shall be deemed to be a separate 

phase of the development.  In order for the vested property rights associated with this permit to be extended 
pursuant to Section 9-1-17-11(D) of the Breckenridge Development Code, substantial construction must be 
achieved for each structure within the vested right period of this permit. 

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT 

 
13. Applicant shall submit proof of ownership of the project site.  

 
14. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town Engineer of final drainage, grading, utility, and 

erosion control plans. 
 

15. Applicant shall provide plans stamped by a registered professional engineer licensed in Colorado, to the Town 
Engineer for all retaining walls over four feet in height. 

 
16. Any exposed foundation wall in excess of 12 inches shall be finished (i.e. textured or painted) in accordance 

with the Breckenridge Development Code Section 9-1-19-5R. 
 

17. Applicant shall identify all existing trees, which are specified on the site plan to be retained, by erecting 
temporary fence barriers around the trees to prevent unnecessary root compaction during construction. 
Construction disturbance shall not occur beyond the fence barriers, and dirt and construction materials or 
debris shall not be placed on the fencing. The temporary fence barriers are to remain in place until issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy. 
 

18. Existing trees designated on the site plan for preservation which die due to site disturbance and/or 
construction activities will be required to be replaced at staff discretion with equivalent new trees, i.e. loss of a 
12 inch diameter tree flagged for retention will be offset with the addition of four 3-inch diameter new trees. 

 
19. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town of a construction staging plan indicating the 

location of all construction material storage, fill and excavation material storage areas, portolet and dumpster 
locations, and employee vehicle parking areas.  No staging is permitted within public right of way without 
Town permission.  Any dirt tracked upon the public road shall be the applicant’s responsibility to remove. 
Contractor parking within the public right of way is not permitted without the express permission of the 
Town, and cars must be moved for snow removal.  A project contact person is to be selected and the name 
provided to the Public Works Department prior to issuance of the building permit.   

 
20. Applicant shall install construction fencing along the disturbance envelope in a manner acceptable to the 

Town Planning Department. 
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21. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from Town staff of a cut sheet detail for all exterior 
lighting on the site. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light 
source and shall cast light downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from 
finished grade or 7’ above upper decks. 

 
22. Applicant shall submit to and obtain approval from the Department of Community Development a 

defensible space plan showing trees proposed for removal and the approximate location of new 
landscaping, including species and size. Applicant shall meet with Community Development 
Department staff on the Applicant’s property to mark trees for removal and review proposed new 
landscaping to meet the requirements of Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping, for the purpose of 
creating defensible space. 
 

PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 
 

23. Applicant shall revegetate all disturbed areas with a minimum of 2 inches topsoil, seed and mulch. 
 
24. Applicant shall remove leaf clutter, dead branches and dead standing trees from the property, dead 

branches on living trees shall be trimmed to a minimum height of six (6) feet and a maximum height of 
ten (10) feet above the ground. 
 

25. Applicant shall remove all vegetation and combustible material from under all eaves and decks. 
 

26. Applicant shall create defensible space around all structures as required in Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping. 
 

27. Applicant shall paint all garage doors, metal flashing, vents, flues, rooftop mechanical equipment, meters, and 
utility boxes on the building a flat, dark color or to match the building color. 

 
28. Applicant shall screen all utilities. 

 
29. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast 

light downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from finished grade or 7’ 
above upper decks. 

 
30. At all times during the course of the work on the development authorized by this permit, the permittee shall 

refrain from depositing any dirt, mud, sand, gravel, rubbish, trash, wastepaper, garbage, construction 
material, or any other waste material of any kind upon the public street(s) adjacent to the construction site. 
Town shall provide oral notification to permittee if Town believes that permittee has violated this 
condition. If permittee fails to clean up any material deposited on the street(s) in violation of this condition 
within 24 hours of oral notice from Town, permittee agrees that the Town may clean up such material 
without further notice and permittee agrees to reimburse the Town for the costs incurred by the Town in 
cleaning the streets.  Town shall be required to give notice to permittee of a violation of this condition only 
once during the term of this permit.  

 
31. The development project approved by this Permit must be constructed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, which were approved by the Town in connection with the Development Permit application. 
Any material deviation from the approved plans and specifications without Town approval as a 
modification may result in the Town issuing a Stop Work Order and/or not issuing a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Compliance for the project, and/or other appropriate legal action under the Town’s 
development regulations.  A Stop Work Order may not be released until a modification to the permit is 
reviewed and approved by the Town.  Based upon the magnitude of the modification, another hearing 
before the Planning Commission may be required. 

 
32. No Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance will be issued by the Town until: (i) all work done 

pursuant to this permit is determined by the Town to be in compliance with the approved plans and 
specifications for the project, and all applicable Town codes, ordinances and standards, and (ii) all conditions 
of approval set forth in the Development Permit for this project have been properly satisfied.  If either of these 
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requirements cannot be met due to prevailing weather conditions, the Town may issue a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance if the permittee enters into a Cash Deposit Agreement providing that 
the permittee will deposit with the Town a cash bond, or other acceptable surety, equal to at least 125% of the 
estimated cost of completing any required work or any applicable condition of approval, and establishing the 
deadline for the completion of such work or the satisfaction of the condition of approval. The form of the 
Cash Deposit Agreement shall be subject to approval of the Town Attorney. “Prevailing weather conditions” 
generally means that work can not be done due to excessive snow and/or frozen ground. As a general rule, a 
cash bond or other acceptable surety will only be accepted by the Town between November 1 and May 
31 of the following year. The final decision to accept a bond as a guarantee will be made by the Town of 
Breckenridge.  

 
33. Applicant shall submit the written statement concerning contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers 

required in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, Series 2004. 
 

34. The development authorized by this Development Permit may be subject to the development impact fee 
imposed by Resolution 2006-05 of the Summit County Housing Authority.  Such resolution implements the 
impact fee approved by the electors at the general election held November 7, 2006.  Pursuant to 
intergovernmental agreement among the members of the Summit Combined Housing Authority, the Town 
of Breckenridge is authorized to administer and collect any impact fee which is due in connection with 
development occurring within the Town.  For this purpose, the Town has issued administrative rules and 
regulations which govern the Town’s administration and collection of the impact fee.  Applicant will pay 
any required impact fee for the development authorized by this Development Permit prior to the issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

   
 (Initial Here) 
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Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
Project Manager: Matt Thompson, AICP 
 
Date: September 11, 2013 (For meeting of September 17, 2013) 
 
Subject: Hirsch Retail Building Master Sign Plan Amendment 
 (Class C Minor; PC#2013080) 
 
Applicant/Owner: Eduardo F. Bello 
 
Agent: House of Signs (Roger Cox)  
 
Proposal: The applicant is proposing an overhaul of the original master sign plan, approved on 

February 10, 1987.  The master sign plan will identify the allowed sign locations and 
sizes.   

 
Address: 216 S. Main Street 
 
Legal Description: Lot 6, Block 2, Stiles Subdivision 
 
Land Use District: 19, Commercial  
 

Item History 
 
Section 8-2-11 of the Breckenridge Sign Code requires a Master Sign Plan (MSP) for all commercial 
buildings containing three or more separate business.  The original master sign plan for the Hirsch Retail 
Building was approved in 1987.  There are sign visibility issues with the current locations of two of the 
signs (Eyes on Breckenridge and Alpenglow Massage), which hang from chains high above the front doors. 
The signs are so high it is difficult for pedestrians to see them and the mature trees now block the view of 
these signs.   
 
All signs installed or maintained on the property must conform to the approved Master Sign Plan.  This 
building currently has three tenant spaces.  This Master Sign Plan identifies the total amount of signage that 
is allowed for the building, and how much signage is allocated for each tenant.  Please see attached 
elevations for sign locations on the building.   
 

Project Description 
 

The purpose of the master sign plan amendment is to establish design and construction standards which 
will result in overall visual appeal and quality, while allowing and encouraging individuality and creativity 
for each owner/tenant within the project.  Other important aspects of this MSP include: 
 

1. To establish a sign plan which results in the opportunity for each owner/tenant to display beneficial 
and effective signage for their retail space.   

2. To provide guidance for new owners/tenants in the aesthetic design and locations of their exterior 
signs. 

3. To conform to Town of Breckenridge Sign Code, 8-2-1.   
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4. Provide a certain uniformity of appearance through consistent application of color, shape, materials 
and mounting.   

Size Guidelines 
 

Using guidelines defined in the Town of Breckenridge Sign Code, each retail space will be allowed the 
following sign area allowances: 
 
Unit A (ground-level unit):  
 

• 6.89 sq. ft. total for (2) sign locations 
• 5.39 sq. ft. for main ID sign on the building/1.50 for sidewalk directory sign 
• Two (2) approved sign locations for main business sign (only one location can be used) 
• One (1) approved location for the directory sign – mounted to integrated bracket 
• Can increase size by 15% of sign(s) are relief-carved with 3-D characteristics   
• An additional 3 sq. ft. of window and/or glass door graphics is exempted  by the Town Sign Code 

 
Unit B (garden-level unit):   
 

• 8.68 sq. ft. total for (2) sign locations  
• 7.18 sq. ft. for main business sign on building/1.50 for sidewalk directory sign 
• One (1) approved sign location for main ID sign 
• Main ID sign cannot exceed 20” in height and must be horizontally proportioned 
• One (1) approved location for directory sign – mounted to integrated bracket 
• Can increase size by 15% if sign(s) are relief-carved with 3-D characteristics 
• Additional 3 sq. ft. of window and/or glass door graphics is permitted 
• Additional 2 sq. ft. for menu box display is permitted (only allowed for restaurant use) 

 
Unit C (upper-level unit):   
 

• 12.72 sq. ft. total for (2) sign locations 
• 10.2 sq. ft. for main ID sign/2.5 sq. ft. for sidewalk directory sign 
• Two (2) approved sign locations for main ID sign (only one location can be used) 
• Can increase size by 15% if sign(s) are relief-carved with 3-D characteristics 
• An additional 3 sq. ft. of window and/or glass door graphics is permitted  

 
Signage Guidelines 

 
This MSP does not require specific materials (Town Sign Code requires either wood or HDU with wood 
grain), but signs with 3-dimensional relief are encouraged.  The plan would allow for up to a 15% 
increase in size if sign(s) have relief-carved 3-D characteristics. This is consistent with what is allowed 
per the Town of Breckenridge Sign Code, Section 8-2-12 (D.3.) Maximum Sign Area.  This additional 
signage allowance is intended to encourage quality design and materials by providing a bonus in size. 
 

• All sign design, materials and locations must comply with approved MSP and Town Sign Code, 
and require approval of the property manager and the Town of Breckenridge Planning 
Department.   
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• Accurate color renderings of all proposed signs shall be presented to the landlord for his/her 
approval.  

• A design/fabrication company with experience in outdoor custom signage must be used to assure 
the success of the sign program and the retail effectiveness for all of the tenants. 

• All signs shall be maintained in a sound condition and neat appearance. 
• Lighting of signs is optional.  Signs may be lit using down-lit, fully shielded lighting fixtures. 

 
Sign Approval Process 

 
Each individual tenant/owner must submit professional sketch renderings clearly identifying the total 
sign areas with dimensions, colors, materials, locations, and lighting details for review by the property 
management.  Upon approval from management, the applicant will then take the approved copy to the 
Town for their approval and issuance of a Class D Sign Permit.  All approvals and permits must be 
obtained prior to erecting any sign at the complex.   
 

Sign Area Calculations 
 

• Building frontage: 24.5’ x .66 = 16.17 sq. ft. 
• Garden Level Bonus (25%): 16.17 x .25 = 4.04 sq. ft.  
• Upper Level Bonus (50%): 16.17 x .50 = 8.08 sq. ft.    
• Totals: 16.17 + 4.04 + 8.08 = 28.29 sq. ft. total 
• Total area allowed for entire building: 28.29 sq. ft.   

 

This has been calculated per the Town of Breckenridge Sign Code, including:  

Section 8-2-12 (c) Limitations  

“Sign Area Adjustments; Multiple Use Buildings: Each multiple use building shall be permitted one 
hundred percent (100%) of the allowable sign area set forth above. In addition, the second floor, if any, 
shall be allowed an additional fifty percent (50%) of the allowable sign area and the garden level, if 
any, shall be allowed an additional twenty five percent (25%) of the allowable sign area. Additional 
signage will be allowed for the garden level and the second floor only if separate business is operating 
from each of these floors. Buildings that have no street level entrances and two (2) levels of commercial 
use are eligible for the garden level bonus only. These additional amounts of allowable sign area shall 
apply only to that portion of second floors and garden levels which are used as commercial space 
accessible to the public.” 

Staff has no concerns with the proposed sign area. 
 
Point Analysis: Staff finds that the proposed Master Sign Plan amendment meets the requirements of the 
Breckenridge Sign Ordinance. We find all the Absolute Policies of the Development Code to be met.  Staff 
does not believe the application warrants positive or negative points.   
 

Staff Action 
 
The Planning Department has approved the Hirsch Retail Building Master Sign Plan, PC#2013080, with 
the attached Findings & Conditions.  We recommend the Planning Commission uphold this decision.   
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 TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 
 Hirsh Retail Building Master Sign Plan  

Lot 6, Block 2, Stiles 
216 S. Main Street 

 PERMIT #2013081 
 

 
 
 FINDINGS 
 
1. The proposed project is in accord with the Sign Ordinance and does not propose any prohibited use. 
 
2. The signs will not have a demonstrative negative aesthetic effect. 
 
3. This approval is based on the staff report dated September 11, 2013, and findings made by the Staff 

and/or Planning Commission with respect to the sign.  Your sign was approved based on the 
proposed design of the sign and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing 

or plans submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on September 
17, 2013, as to the nature of the project.  In addition to Commission minutes, the meetings of the 
Commission are tape recorded. 

 
 CONDITIONS 
 
1. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the 

applicant accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the 
acceptance to the Town of Breckenridge. 

 
2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to the provisions of 

Section 2-16 of the Sign Ordinance, may if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of 
work, revoke this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the property and/or restoration of the 
property. 

 
3. If this sign no longer advertises a bona fide business conducted on the premises, it shall be removed 

within fourteen (14) days of the closing of such business. 
 
4. The signs shall be maintained in a sound condition and in a neat appearance. 
 
5. Any lighting shall require staff approval at a minimum. All sign lighting shall be from above, and 

shall include a fully shielded light source. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff has approved this application with the following Findings and 
Conditions and recommends the Planning Commission uphold this 
decision.  
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6. Any changes to the proposed square footages and/or location of any signs shall require submittal and 
approval of a new Master Sign Plan. 

 
8. All new signs must comply with the current Master Sign Plan and shall require Town of 

Breckenridge staff approval. 
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Class C Development Review Check List

Project Name/PC#: Project X PC#2013079
Project Manager:

Matt Thompson, AICP
Date of Report: September 10, 2013 For the 09/17/2013 Planning Commission Meeting
Applicant/Owner:

Agent:

Proposed Use:

Address:

Legal Description:

Site Area: 19,166 sq. ft.
Land Use District (2A/2R):      
Proposal:

Existing Site Conditions:

     

Density (3A/3R): Allowed: unlimited Proposed: 3,232 sq. ft.

Mass (4A): (Subject to the Town's 
Neighborhood Preservation 
Ordinance) - 211 SF of garage 
counted

Allowed: 4,792 sq. ft. Proposed: 3,443 sq. ft.

To remove existing non-historic house to construct a new single family residence

The lot slopes downhill away from Pine Street at 10% towards the west.  The 
property is densely covered in moderate sized lodgepole pine trees.  There is an 
existing 676 sq. ft. single family house on the property that was built in 1966.  There 
is a 10' utility easement along the western property line.  

Chad Christy

Todd Webber Architect, P.C.  

Single family residence

103 N. Pine Street

Lot 9, Block 10, Weisshorn Subdivision

12: Residential

Mass (4A/4R): (With garage 
included)

Proposed: 4,554 sq. ft.

F.A.R. 1:5.57 FAR
Areas: Proposed:
Lower Level:
Main Level: 1,411 sq. ft.
Upper Level: 1,821 sq. ft.
Garage:

1,111 sq. ft.

(For Neighborhood Preservation Policy calcultion 
purposes, mass applies only to that portion of that 
garage that exceeds 900 sq. ft. , which is 211 sq. ft.)

Total: 4,343 sq. ft.

Bedrooms: 4
Bathrooms: 4.5
Height (6A/6R): 34 feet overall

Lot Coverage/Open Space (21R):
 Building / non-Permeable: 2,777 sq. ft. 14.49%

Hard Surface / non-Permeable: 2,562 sq. ft. 13.37%
Open Space / Permeable: 13,827 sq. ft. 72.14%

Parking (18A/18/R):
Required: 2 spaces

(Max 35’ for single family outside Historic District)
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Proposed: 3 spaces
Snowstack (13A/13R):

Required: 641 sq. ft. (25% of paved surfaces)
Proposed: 1,259 sq. ft. (49.14% of paved surfaces)

Fireplaces (30A/30R):      2 gas fired

Accessory Apartment: N/A

N/A
 
Setbacks (9A/9R):

Front: 30' 25' relative setback requirement
Side: 71' - 6" 50' combined total of both sides required
Side: 17' - 9" 50' combined with one side no closer than 15'
Rear:

Exterior Materials: 

Roof:

Garage Doors:

Landscaping (22A/22R):
Planting Type Quantity Size
Colorado blue spruce 2 6'- 8'
Aspen 3 2" minimum caliper

Defensible Space:

Drainage (27A/27R): 

15' - 9"                                   15' relative setback requirement  

Complies- Will field verify prior to building permit

Positive away from residence

This contemporary design will be architecturally compatible with the neighborhood.  
The character of the street is relativeley boxy and simple.  This design is a 
contemporary interpretation of the simple boxy style of other houses in the area.  Architectural Compatibility (5/A & 5/R):

The primary siding material is natural vertical wood siding with elements of vertical 
wood siding as well, EcoClad exterior wood composite cladding as accent material, 
all fascia and trim natural wood, and a natural stone cut veneer.  

Metal roof dark gray in color

Anodized aluminum (nonreflective) with opaque glass

Building/Disturbance Envelope:      

Drainage (27A/27R): 

Driveway Slope: 8 %
Covenants:

Point Analysis (Sec. 9-1-17-3):      

Staff Action:      

Comments:      

Additional Conditions of Approval:      

None

Positive away from residence

Staff has conducted an informal point analysis and found no reason to warrant positive or 
negative points for this proposal.  Application meets all absolute and relative policies of the 
Development Code.  

EcoClad is a Forest Stewardship Council certified 50/50 fiber blend of 100% post-consumer 
recycled paper and rapidly renewable bamboo fiber.  After discussion, Staff concludes this 
material to be natural and sustainable siding material in conformance with policy 5A.  Staff will 
have a material sample at the meeting.  

Staff has approved PC#2013079, Project X, located at 103 N. Pine Street, Lot 9, Block 10, 
Weisshorn #2, with the attached Findings and Conditions.  

-64-



TOWN OF BRECKENRIDGE 
 

Project X 
Lot 9, Block 10, Weisshorn #2 

103 N. Pine Street 
PC#2013079 

 

 
FINDINGS 

 
1. The project is in accord with the Development Code and does not propose a prohibited use. 
 
2. The project will not have significant adverse environmental impact or demonstrative negative aesthetic effect. 
 
3. All feasible measures mitigating adverse environmental impacts have been included, and there are no 

economically feasible alternatives, which would have less adverse environmental impact. 
 
4. This approval is based on the staff report dated September 10, 2013, and findings made by the Planning 

Commission with respect to the project.  Your project was approved based on the proposed design of the 
project and your acceptance of these terms and conditions imposed. 

 
5. The terms of approval include any representations made by you or your representatives in any writing or plans 

submitted to the Town of Breckenridge, and at the hearing on the project held on September 17, 2013, as to 
the nature of the project.  In addition to Commission minutes, the meetings of the Commission are tape-
recorded. 

 
CONDITIONS 

 
1. This permit does not become effective, and the project may not be commenced, unless and until the applicant 

accepts the preceding findings and following conditions in writing and transmits the acceptance to the Town 
of Breckenridge. 

 
2. If the terms and conditions of the approval are violated, the Town, in addition to criminal and civil judicial 

proceedings, may, if appropriate, issue a stop order requiring the cessation of work, revoke this permit, 
require removal of any improvements made in reliance upon this permit with costs to constitute a lien on the 
property and/or restoration of the property. 

 
3. This permit expires eighteen (18) months from date of issuance, on March 24, 2015, unless a building permit 

has been issued and substantial construction pursuant thereto has taken place. In addition, if this permit is not 
signed and returned to the Town within 30 days from the permit mailing date, the duration of the permit shall 
be 18 months, but without the benefit of any vested property right. 

 
4. The terms and conditions of this permit are in compliance with the statements of the staff and applicant made 

on the evidentiary forms and policy analysis forms. 
 
5. Nothing in this permit shall constitute an agreement by the Town of Breckenridge to issue a certificate of 

occupancy for the project covered by this permit. The determination of whether a certificate of occupancy 
should be issued for such project shall be made by the Town in accordance with the applicable provisions 
of the Town Code, including, but not limited to the building code. 

 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff has approved this application with the following Findings and 
Conditions and recommends the Planning Commission uphold this decision.  
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6. At the point where the driveway opening ties into the road, the driveway shall continue for five feet at the 
same cross slope grade as the road before sloping to the residence.  This is to prevent snowplow equipment 
from damaging the new driveway pavement. 

 
7. Applicant shall field locate utility service lines to avoid existing trees. 

 
8. An improvement location certificate of the height of the top of the foundation wall and the height of the 

building’s ridge must be submitted and approved by the Town during the various phases of 
construction.  The final building height shall not exceed 35’ at any location. 

 
9. All hazardous materials used in construction of the improvements authorized by this permit shall be disposed 

of properly off site. 
 
10. Each structure which is authorized to be developed pursuant to this permit shall be deemed to be a separate 

phase of the development.  In order for the vested property rights associated with this permit to be extended 
pursuant to Section 9-1-17-11(D) of the Breckenridge Development Code, substantial construction must be 
achieved for each structure within the vested right period of this permit. 

 
PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF BUILDING PERMIT 

 
11. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town Engineer of final drainage, grading, utility, and 

erosion control plans. 
 

12. Applicant shall provide plans stamped by a registered professional engineer licensed in Colorado, to the 
Town Engineer for all retaining walls over four feet in height. 

 
13. Any exposed foundation wall in excess of 12 inches shall be finished (i.e. textured or painted) in accordance 

with the Breckenridge Development Code Section 9-1-19-5R. 
 

14. Applicant shall identify all existing trees, which are specified on the site plan to be retained, by erecting 
temporary fence barriers around the trees to prevent unnecessary root compaction during construction. 
Construction disturbance shall not occur beyond the fence barriers, and dirt and construction materials or 
debris shall not be placed on the fencing. The temporary fence barriers are to remain in place until issuance of 
the Certificate of Occupancy. 

 
15. Existing trees designated on the site plan for preservation which die due to site disturbance and/or 

construction activities will be required to be replaced at staff discretion with equivalent new trees, i.e. loss of 
a 12 inch diameter tree flagged for retention will be offset with the addition of four 3-inch diameter new trees. 

 
16. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from the Town of a construction staging plan indicating the 

location of all construction material storage, fill and excavation material storage areas, portolet and dumpster 
locations, and employee vehicle parking areas.  No staging is permitted within public right of way without 
Town permission.  Any dirt tracked upon the public road shall be the applicant’s responsibility to remove. 
Contractor parking within the public right of way is not permitted without the express permission of the 
Town, and cars must be moved for snow removal.  A project contact person is to be selected and the name 
provided to the Public Works Department prior to issuance of the building permit.   

 
17. Applicant shall install construction fencing in a manner acceptable to the Town Planning Department.   

 
18. Applicant shall submit and obtain approval from Town staff of a cut sheet detail for all exterior 

lighting on the site. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light 
source and shall cast light downward. 
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19. Applicant shall submit to and obtain approval from the Department of Community Development a 
defensible space plan showing trees proposed for removal and the approximate location of new 
landscaping, including species and size. Applicant shall meet with Community Development Department 
staff on the Applicant’s property to mark trees for removal and review proposed new landscaping to meet 
the requirements of Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping, for the purpose of creating defensible space. 
 

PRIOR TO ISSUANCE OF CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY 
 

20. Applicant shall revegetate all disturbed areas with a minimum of 2 inches topsoil, seed and mulch. 
 
21. Applicant shall remove leaf clutter, dead branches and dead standing trees from the property, dead branches 

on living trees shall be trimmed to a minimum height of six (6) feet and a maximum height of ten (10) feet 
above the ground. 
 

22. Applicant shall remove all vegetation and combustible material from under all eaves and decks. 
 

23. Applicant shall create defensible space around all structures as required in Policy 22 (Absolute) Landscaping. 
 

24. Applicant shall paint all garage doors, metal flashing, vents, flues, rooftop mechanical equipment, meters, and 
utility boxes on the building a flat, dark color or to match the building color. 

 
25. Applicant shall screen all utilities. 

 
26. At all times during the course of the work on the development authorized by this permit, the permittee 

shall refrain from depositing any dirt, mud, sand, gravel, rubbish, trash, wastepaper, garbage, construction 
material, or any other waste material of any kind upon the public street(s) adjacent to the construction site. 
Town shall provide oral notification to permittee if Town believes that permittee has violated this 
condition. If permittee fails to clean up any material deposited on the street(s) in violation of this condition 
within 24 hours of oral notice from Town, permittee agrees that the Town may clean up such material 
without further notice and permittee agrees to reimburse the Town for the costs incurred by the Town in 
cleaning the streets.  Town shall be required to give notice to permittee of a violation of this condition only 
once during the term of this permit.  

 
27. The development project approved by this Permit must be constructed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications, which were approved by the Town in connection with the Development Permit application. 
Any material deviation from the approved plans and specifications without Town approval as a 
modification may result in the Town issuing a Stop Work Order and/or not issuing a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Compliance for the project, and/or other appropriate legal action under the Town’s 
development regulations.  A Stop Work Order may not be released until a modification to the permit is 
reviewed and approved by the Town.  Based upon the magnitude of the modification, another hearing 
before the Planning Commission may be required. 

 
28. No Certificate of Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance will be issued by the Town until: (i) all work done 

pursuant to this permit is determined by the Town to be in compliance with the approved plans and 
specifications for the project, and all applicable Town codes, ordinances and standards, and (ii) all conditions 
of approval set forth in the Development Permit for this project have been properly satisfied.  If either of these 
requirements cannot be met due to prevailing weather conditions, the Town may issue a Certificate of 
Occupancy or Certificate of Compliance if the permittee enters into a Cash Deposit Agreement providing that 
the permittee will deposit with the Town a cash bond, or other acceptable surety, equal to at least 125% of the 
estimated cost of completing any required work or any applicable condition of approval, and establishing the 
deadline for the completion of such work or the satisfaction of the condition of approval. The form of the 
Cash Deposit Agreement shall be subject to approval of the Town Attorney. “Prevailing weather conditions” 
generally means that work can not be done due to excessive snow and/or frozen ground. As a general rule, a 
cash bond or other acceptable surety will only be accepted by the Town between November 1 and May 
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31 of the following year. The final decision to accept a bond as a guarantee will be made by the Town of 
Breckenridge.  

 
29. Applicant shall submit the written statement concerning contractors, subcontractors and material suppliers 

required in accordance with Ordinance No. 1, Series 2004.   
 

30. All exterior lighting on the site or buildings shall be fully shielded to hide the light source and shall cast 
light downward.  Exterior residential lighting shall not exceed 15’ in height from finished grade or 7’ 
above upper decks.  (Including can lights in soffits).    

 
31. The development authorized by this Development Permit may be subject to the development impact fee 

imposed by Resolution 2006-05 of the Summit County Housing Authority.  Such resolution implements 
the impact fee approved by the electors at the general election held November 7, 2006.  Pursuant to 
intergovernmental agreement among the members of the Summit Combined Housing Authority, the Town 
of Breckenridge is authorized to administer and collect any impact fee which is due in connection with 
development occurring within the Town.  For this purpose, the Town has issued administrative rules and 
regulations which govern the Town’s administration and collection of the impact fee.  Applicant will pay 
any required impact fee for the development authorized by this Development Permit prior to the 
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. 

   
 (Initial Here) 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Julia Puester, AICP, Senior Planner 
 
DATE: September 10, 2013 for meeting of September 17, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: Development Application Classifications Worksession 
 
 
Staff has recently reviewed the Development Code and identified some potential modifications that 
could assist with efficiencies in the development review process. Staff presented this as a worksession 
item at the September 3 Planning Commission meeting.  Based on feedback from that worksession, 
staff is proposing the modifications to Section 9-1-5 Definitions of the Development Code attached 
with changes shown in bold and double underline. 
 
For the purpose of our discussion, staff has provided a brief synopsis of the major changes below.  
  
Class A 

• Wireless towers and antennas.  
o This is a new use under Class A applications. This will define a process for staff and 

applicants.  Staff believes that a more stringent review process is warranted to address 
potential issues such as land use, visibility and location which have presented concerns 
in past applications. The Commission gave direction at the worksession to proceed with 
a more detailed policy.  Staff has begun researching other jurisdictions and will come 
back before the Commission at another worksession. 

 
Class B 

• Vendor Carts, Large.  
o A Large Vendor Cart remains in place for a duration of up to 3 years and thus, a more 

detailed report and discussion at Planning Commission would occur under a Class B. 
There is no change to how Large Vendor Carts would be reviewed.  Small Vendor 
Carts have been reclassified to a Class C (see Class C changes below). 

 
Class C 

• Vendor Carts, Small. 
o Small Vendor Carts would be reclassified to a Class C with the stipulation that public 

notice is still required in accordance with the Class B development permit application 
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guidelines. This will allow for notice to adjacent property owners within 300’ to 
received mailed notice of the meeting and posting of the property. 
 

• Temporary structures.  
o A new category for seasonal structures will address many issues that staff has seen in 

the past.  A majority of applicants look for seasonal structures. 
 

• Additions to commercial, office or industrial structures OF LESS THAN 10% OF THE 
EXISTING STRUCTURE MASS. 

o This clarification is a code clean up which specifies the size of addition. Is the 
Commission comfortable with the 10%? 

 
Class D 

• Single-family, duplex structure or major remodel outside of the conservation district, with or 
without an accessory apartment, except where development:  
a. Warrants any negative points (including applications which achieve a passing point 

analysis); 
b. Is located on a lot, tract or parcel without a platted building or disturbance envelope 

outside of the conservation district as defined in Section 9-1-19 4A (Mass); 
c. Has no Homeowners Association Architectural Review mechanism accepted by the Town. 

 
A Class D development- Major permit application with conditions contained in 
subsections a, b or c above, shall be reclassified as a class C development permit 
application.  

 
Based on our research over the past 8 years, 2% of single families have been called-up by the 
Commission.  The majority of those stemmed from concerns raised by staff. Of those called up, 
even fewer resulted in changes to the applications. The two applications which were called up 
and denied in the past 8 years, (0.35% of total applications) were not single family applications 
and were also denied by staff. 

 
o The Planning Commission had a lot of discussion at the previous worksession regarding 

what type of applications should be reviewed on the Commission’s consent calendar. 
Staff has proposed subsections a, b, and c (negative points assigned by staff; lack of a 
building or disturbance envelope; or which had no HOA architectural review 
mechanism respectively) to address the Commissioner’s comments and concerns. These 
cases would automatically be reviewed by the Planning Commission.  Should there be a 
questionable application which does not fall under a, b, orc, staff would elevate the 
application to the Commission as has been done in the past with other types of 
development applications. (Under the Development Code, the Director is able to 
elevate an application to a higher classification).  

o Knowledge of all applications in process (even those which would not require Planning 
Commission review) was another concern raised by the Commission.  Staff agrees with 
the Commission that this information is beneficial.  Staff will add this to the 
department’s administrative guidelines to report these. Staff can include a list and map 
in the packet which will display locations of applications in process.  Lastly, the 
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Community Development Department will be upgrading our internal permitting system 
which has the capability to automatically generate lists and maps of all permits under 
review and under construction. This new system will be effective early 2014.  

 
Note that application fees would remain the same or similar to the Class C application fees 
currently charged.  

 
• Master Sign Plan Modification 

o At the previous worksession, the Commission was supportive of a master sign plan 
modification category which the code currently lacks.  There was discussion regarding 
separating the modifications into minor and major applications in which a major 
modification would go to the Commission.  However, there are few items to change in 
a Master Sign Plan (square footage, location on building, mounting, materials).  Staff 
would like sign plan modifications to be considered under one category and be 
classified as a Class D, as all modifications would be required to meet the limitations 
within the Sign Code (Section 8-2-11).  
 

• Substitution or modification to employee unit 
o The proposal is to add “modification to the employee unit” to this application category. 

This would allow staff to have a formal check on any changes to employee housing 
units to identify any potential issues such as change ion floor plan (unit size, kitchen, 
number of bedrooms, etc).  

 
• Minor remodel definitions.  

o This is a clean up item.  Staff is proposing to clarify a 10% residential mass addition 
or no change to the exterior of the structure is a class D permit. 
 

We would like to receive input from the Commission on modifications attached and receive 
direction on proceeding to the Town Council. 
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Proposed Development Code Modifications 
September 17, 2013 

Section 9-1-5 Definitions: 

CLASS A DEVELOPMENT: Any development which includes any of the following activities or 
elements: 

A. Residential uses which include three (3) units or more. 

B. Lodging and hotel uses. 

C. Any site work or landscaping which is in excess of two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000.00) 
in value, to include ski lifts and parking lots. 

D. Commercial and industrial uses, additions and remodels which are one thousand (1,000) square 
feet in size or greater. 

E. Approval of a master plan on a site five (5) acres or more in size. 

F. Major amendment to a master plan pursuant to section 9-1-19-39A, "Policy 39 (Absolute) 
Master Plan", subsection L, of this chapter. 

G. Wireless Towers and Antennas. 

 

CLASS B DEVELOPMENT: Any development which includes any of the following activities or 
elements: 

 Class B - Major: A. Single-family non historic residential within the historic district or the 
conservation district. 

B. Duplex residential within the historic district or the conservation district. 

C. Bed and breakfasts, and boarding houses. 

D. Commercial and industrial uses, and additions which are less than one thousand (1,000) square 
feet in size or 10% or more of the existing square footage, whichever is less. 

E. Approval of a master plan on a site of less than five (5) acres. 

F. Demolition or moving of a landmark or historic structure (including any portion of the structure). 

Class B - Minor: A. Major remodel1 of any historic residential structure within the historic district 
or the conservation district. 
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B. Change of use within a residential district. 

C. Site work, landscaping, grading, and utility installations on steep slopes (greater than 15 percent) 
or within environmentally sensitive areas. 

D. Operation of a home childcare business. 

E. Vendor carts, Large (large vendor carts and small vendor carts). Because a small vendor cart 
development permit is valid for only one year, the application fee for a small vendor cart 
development permit shall be one-third (1/3) of the normal class B - minor application fee. 

F. Application for exempt large vendor cart designation. 

Class B development is divided into major and minor categories for purposes of payment of 
application fees2 only. The procedures set forth in the development code for the processing of 
class B development permit applications apply to both major and minor categories. 

 

CLASS C DEVELOPMENT: Any development which includes any of the following activities or 
elements: 

Class C - Major: A. Single-family structure outside of the historic district, with or without an 
accessory apartment, except where development occurs on a steep slope or within an 
environmentally sensitive area, in which case the project may be reclassified as a class B - major. 

B. Duplex residential outside of the historic district. 

Class C - Minor:  

A. Change of use outside of a residential district. 

B. Master sign plans. 

C. Temporary seasonal structures or uses greater than three (3) days in duration. 

D. Minor remodels3 and Additions to commercial, office or industrial structures of less than 10% 
of the existing total mass. 

E. Matters relating to nonconforming uses. 

F. Minor amendment to a master plan pursuant to section 9-1-19-39A, subsection L, of this chapter. 

G. Installation of solar device within the conservation district. 
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H. Vendor Carts, Small.   A Small Vendor Cart shall be processed as a Class C development 
permit with public notice requirements per a Class B development permit. 

I. Major remodel to residential condominium, multi-family, lodging, or hotel structure. 

Class C development is divided into major and minor categories for purposes of payment of 
application fees4 only. The procedures set forth in the development code for the processing of 
class C development permit applications apply to both major and minor categories. 

 

CLASS D DEVELOPMENT: Any development which includes any of the following activities 
and elements: 

Class D- Major:   
1.Single-family, duplex structure or major remodel outside of the conservation district, with 
or without an accessory apartment, except where development:  

a. Warrants any negative points (including applications which achieve a passing point 
analysis); 

b. Is located on a lot, tract or parcel without a platted building or disturbance envelope 
outside of the conservation district as defined in Section 9-1-19 4A (Mass); 

c. Has no Homeowners Association Architectural Review mechanism accepted by the Town. 
 

A Class D development- Major permit application that meets the criteria specified in 
subsection a, b or c above, shall be reclassified as a class C development permit application. 

A. Banners and sponsor banners (all). 

B. Individual signs (all). 

C. Demolition or moving of any structure outside of the historic conservation district. 

D. Demolition of nonhistoric structure within the conservation district. 

E. Fencing (all). 

F. Home occupation. 

G. Minor remodel5 of any residential structure. 

H. Temporary structures or events of three (3) days or less in duration. 

I. Operation of a chalet house. 

J. Any painting of a structure within the historic conservation district, except for paint 
maintenance. 
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K. Any painting of a structure with a commercial or lodging use outside of the conservation district 
in land use districts 3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 13, 20, 23, 25, 28, 31, 32, 33, 35 or 39; except for paint 
maintenance. 

L. The painting of a contemporary landmark as provided in section 9-1-19-5A, "Policy 5 
(Absolute) Architectural Compatibility", subsection A(2), of this chapter. 

M. The placement of a commercial handbill dispenser outside of a fully enclosed building as 
provided in section 11-5-6 of this code. 

N. Construction of approved trash dumpster enclosure or conversion of nonconforming trash 
dumpster enclosure to approved trash dumpster enclosure. 

O. Placement of public art. 

P. Substitution of employee housing unit or modification to employee unit. 

Q. Summer seasonal occupancy of employee housing unit as provided in section 9-1-19-24R, 
"Policy 24 (Relative) Social Community", subsection A(5), of this chapter. 

R. Placement of a satellite earth station larger than two meters (2 m) in diameter in land use 
districts where industrial or commercial uses are recommended, or larger than one meter (1 m) in 
diameter in land use districts where any other use is recommended. 

S. Repealed. 

T. Site work, landscaping, grading, and utility installations unless done on steep slopes or within 
environmentally sensitive areas. 

U. The outdoor display or storage of bicycles as provided in subsection 9-7-6C of this title. 

V. Any other development described as a class D development in any town ordinance. 

W. Installation of swimming pool, spa or hot tub. 

X. Seasonal noncommercial greenhouse. 

Y. Installation of solar device outside the conservation district. 

Z. Creation of voluntary defensible space around a building or structure, or on a parcel of land. 

AA. Application for a renewable energy mechanical system under section 9-1-19-4A of this 
chapter. 

BB. Master Sign Plan Modification. 
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Class D development is divided into major and minor categories for purposes of payment of 
application fees only. The procedures set forth in the development code for the processing of 
class D development permit applications apply to both major and minor categories. 

*Major remodel - Additional residential mass of more than ten percent (10%) of existing 
structure square footage and/or change of character to the exterior of the structure. 
 
*Minor remodel - Additional residential mass of ten percent (10%) or less of the existing 
structure's mass and/or no change to the exterior of the structure. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: Julia Puester, AICP, Senior Planner 
 
DATE: September 10, 2013 for meeting of September 17, 2013 
 
SUBJECT: Work Session: Top Ten List 
 
 
Each year the Planning Department creates a list of the Top Ten most important policy issues and code 
amendments for staff to focus on in the upcoming year.  Following is a list of the accomplished items from 
the past Top Ten list within the last year.  
 

1. Moving Historic Structures 
2. Solar Panels in the Historic District 
3. Town Solar Gardens 
4. Arts District Expansion 
5. Energy Policy Modification 

 
Suggested Top 10 Priorities 
Staff recommends the following priority items for the Top Ten list(in no particular order): 
 

1. Planning Classification Class A-D modifications 
2. Transition Standards Near Carter Park 
3. Condo Hotels Update (Amenity Bonus, Check-In Desks, Shuttles) 
4. Mass Policy: Airlock Entries and other mass consuming energy conservation features 
5. Wildlife Policy 
6. Snack/Bar/Restaurant Water PIFs 
7. Wireless Communication Towers/Antennas 
8. Employee housing annexation positive point allocations 
9. Parking: Residential parking in garages (positive points) 
10. Water conservation practices 

 
Staff is currently working on Class A-D modifications and has started the research for wireless 
communication towers/antennas.   
 
Staff would like direction from the Planning Commission on the Top Ten list recommended above. Staff 
intends to pursue work on the approved top ten list as soon as time and resources allow.  The order that they 
are forwarded to Planning Commission and Town Council will partly depend on the complexity of the 
project. 
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Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
Subject: Peak Ten Bluffs Master Plan  
 (Class A, Preliminary Hearing; PC#2013066) 
 
Proposal: To master plan the property previously known as Angel’s Lookout for the 

development of eight cluster single-family homes on eight individual lots. Two 
existing private driveways will access the properties. A Development Permit 
application for a subdivision is being reviewed separately. 

 
Date:  August 27, 2013 (For meeting of September 17, 2013) 
 
Project Manager:  Michael Mosher, Planner III 
 
Applicant/Owner:  Breck Limited, LLC 
 
Agent:  Lou Glisan, Breck Ltd., LLC 
 
Address:  Silver Queen Drive 
 
Legal Description:  A resubdivision of Lots 57A and 57B, Warriors Mark Townhomes, Filing 5 
 
Land Use District: 30.6 – Residential; Warriors Mark Townhouse #5 Lots 57A and 57B: 8 units 
 
Site Area:   3.283 acres (142,987 sq. ft.) 
 
Site Conditions: The property slopes down sharply from Silver Queen Drive at about 40 to 45%. A 

5-foot wide utility easement exists at the base of the lot. There are two private 
drives constructed with large retaining walls accessing the property off Silver 
Queen Drive.  These drives lay within a platted Private Access and Utility 
Easement. The large area of heavily wooded wetlands lies to the northeast and a 
20-foot wide utility easement bisects the property from White Cloud Drive to the 
south. The property is heavily wooded with Lodgepole pines. The wetlands area 
has healthy spruce trees.  

 
Adjacent Uses: North: Multi family residential, White Cloud Drive 
 East: Multi family residential 
 South: Gold King Placer, Summit County  
 West: Silver Queen Drive, Warriors Mark West 
 
Density: Allowed per subdivision:  8 units in duplex 
 Proposed density: 8 units in cluster single-family 
 
Height: Recommended: 35-feet  (overall) 
 Proposed:  35-feet (overall) 
 
Lot Coverage: Building / non-Permeable: (at next review) 
 Hard Surface / non-Permeable: (at next review) 
 Open Space / Permeable Area: Approximately 42% of the site 
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Parking: Required:  16 spaces 
 Proposed: 20 spaces 
 
Snowstack: 
Lower Road Required: 1,902 sq. ft. (25%) 
 Proposed: 1,962 sq. ft. (25%) 
 
Upper Road Required: 2,692 sq. ft. (25%) 
 Proposed: 2,702 sq. ft. (25.1%) 
 
Setbacks: Front: 15 ft. 
 Sides: 5 ft. 
 Rear: 15 ft. 
 

Item History 
 
The Board of County Commissioners approved Angels Lookout Subdivision (within Warriors Mark 
Subdivision) on December 5, 2002. This approved subdivision created four duplex lots, each with a 
building envelope, with a total of eight units of density. The project was never completed although some 
infrastructure was installed. Since the approval of the subdivision, the Town of Breckenridge annexed 
all of the Warriors Mark subdivisions and is now responsible for the review of any development within 
Angels Lookout. 
 
The property is steep with slopes nearing 45% that face north towards downtown Breckenridge. 
Development of this property will be visible from downtown Breckenridge. The internal private access 
drive, Silver Queen Drive, was constructed for the County’s subdivision approval and is used to access 
the property. The lower portion of Silver Queen is now a Town right-of-way. 
 
With a previous owner and with the previous County approved subdivision, this property had been 
approved by the Planning Commission and Town Council with two development permits, a duplex for 
Lot 3 (PC#2003079) and a duplex for Lot 4 (PC#2003080). Lot 4 was under construction and then later 
all development was abandoned by the previous owner. The property remained with no further 
improvements for several years. The current applicant has since removed the existing foundation and the 
vertical construction for Lot 4. The development permit for Lot 3 was never started. 
 
To lessen site impacts, reduce building heights and to offer more landscaping backdrop, the applicant is 
proposing cluster-single-family homes instead of duplexes with this master plan. There will still be eight 
units as originally approved and recommended per the Land Use District Guidelines. 
 

Staff Comments 
 
The applicant plans to obtain approval of, and construct, each of these eight cluster single-family homes. 
Each home will be developed with the Class C Development permit process. With the change from 
duplex to cluster single-family use, the previously recorded plat, a master plan and a new subdivision 
must be created first. The purpose of this Master Plan is to review how the proposed cluster single-
family development on this property can meet the intent of the Development Code. 
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Land Use (Policies 2/A & 2/R): Within Land Use District (LUD) 30-6, residential uses are permitted. 
The  LUD specifically identifies Warriors Mark Townhouse #5 Lots 57A and 57B with 8 units. The 
proposed use is 8 cluster single-family-homes. Staff has no concerns. 
 
Density/Intensity (3/A & 3/R)/Mass (4/R): Based on the size of the overall site and the number of 
proposed units, single-family, duplex, and cluster single-family are allowed unlimited density per SFE. 
However, with the site constraints of the existing conditions, the proposed cluster single-family sites are 
relatively small. All of the units have the same internal living program - three bedrooms, three and a half 
baths with two family living areas. The square footage of each home averages 2,700 square feet.  Staff 
has no concerns with the proposed density or mass. 
 
Architectural Compatibility (5/A & 5/R):  The attached drawings are showing that the buildings will 
be sided with all natural materials with the exception of a self-rusting corrugated metal base. The 
renderings are showing a dark green asphaltic shingle roof, cedar shingles, cedar horizontal and vertical 
siding, heavy timber columns and accents with a natural stone base. Staff has no concerns with the 
exterior materials. 
 
Staff has concerns with the color of the window trim shown on the renderings. It appears to be a light 
green and may not be dark enough to comply with Policy 8, (Absolute) Ridgeline and Hillside 
Development (see discussion below).  After raising this concern to the applicant he has assured staff that 
all of the colors for each home will meet the intent of Policy 8. The Code will also require that the 
glazing be non-reflective per this same policy. Materials and colors will be reviewed for compliance 
with Policy 5 and Policy 8 with each individual Class C Development Permit. 
 
Building Height (6/A & 6/R): With a property this steep, Staff had shared concerns with the applicant 
about any construction being able to meet the overall required building height. Though the individual 
cluster-single-family homes will be processed separately, the conceptual plans for this Master Plan are 
showing that all future buildings should be no taller than 35 feet and meet the code. With this master 
plan staff has no concerns with building height. 
 
Site and Environmental Design (7/R): There will be several retaining walls constructed as this site is 
developed. Those retaining walls between the homes will be constructed with natural dry stacked stone 
no taller than 4-feet. All proposed retaining walls will be faced with natural stone and be terraced to 
allow plantings in between the walls.  
 
The existing retaining walls supporting the private drives are constructed of a split faced concrete block 
with a reddish brown color. As noted above, these were installed as part of the previous application. 
(The applicant is in the process of having all retaining walls reevaluated for their structural soundness.)  
Two new retaining walls will be constructed at the very top of the site and will use matching materials 
as the existing retaining walls. See Sheet C1 for their location. 
 
The overall design concept with this change is that the masses of cluster single-family units can be 
broken into smaller forms than the larger duplex units allowing increased opportunity to mitigate the 
visual impacts of the development.  With an overall narrower profile per building, there is more 
opportunity for plantings and buffering between the masses. The previously approved duplexes were 
nearly twice the width of two of the proposed cluster single-family homes. The smaller masses allow for 
more landscape buffer between the developments and reduced impact to the hillside when finished.. 
Does the Commission concur? 
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Ridgeline and Hillside Development (8/R): Per this policy: 
Development on a ridgeline or a hillside is prohibited, except when all of the following 
findings are made by the planning commission: 
 
(1) There are no site development alternatives which avoid ridgeline or hillside 
development; and 
(2) The proposed development will not have significant adverse impacts because the 
application includes all reasonable steps necessary to minimize the visual impacts of the 
development as viewed from an area of concern. 

 
Site Grading/Cut and Fill/Retaining Walls: The property is accessed from the upper portion allowing 
better opportunity for preservation the tree buffer below. In addition, each of the planned units is to be 
accessed from the uphill side. Efforts have been made to face the retaining walls with natural material 
and to screen them from below with landscaping. None of the home sites are being “benched” and the 
proposed masses and roof forms are stepping down the hillside.  
 
Design Of Structures: The forms and massing of each home are respecting the slope of this very steep 
lot. The massing and roof forms step down with the hillside. Portions of each floor are incorporated 
below grade and into the hillside. Dark colors that should blend into the background are proposed. As 
noted above, efforts have been made to break up the massing and to keep the overall building height 
lower than 35-feet. 
 
Extensive landscaping is proposed to mitigate the impacts of the development and to repair the damage 
from the previous owner. Larger sizes in a variety of species are planned. (See below for details.) 
 
Exterior Lighting: All exterior lighting shall be designed to minimize off site visibility and glare. (Staff 
notes that the attached rendering showing an evening view of a house erroneously shows lighting in the 
eaves and wall lights that will not be acceptable. (The applicant has assured Staff that this will be 
corrected.) All lighting criteria described in this policy will be adhered to in the design of each home as 
they are reviewed with the Planning Commission as Class C applications. 
 
Placement Of Structures (9/A & 9/R): Per this Policy: 

b. Other Residential Development: 
 
1. Front yard: Fifteen feet (15'). 
2. Side yard: Five feet (5'). 
3. Rear yard: Fifteen feet (15'). (Ord. 13, Series 2000) 
 
d. Perimeter Boundary: The provisions of this subsection shall only apply to the 
perimeter boundary of any lot, tract or parcel which is being developed for attached units 
(such as duplexes, townhouses, multi-family, or condominium projects), or for cluster 
single-family (CSF) use. (Highlight added.) 

 
The master plan drawings show that each of the development areas lie within the required setbacks. We 
also note that the setbacks are going to be shown on the proposed plat. Staff has no concerns.  
 
Snow Removal And Storage (13/R): As designed, there is adequate snow storage for the private drives 
and for each access area to the proposed garages. Staff has no concerns. 
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Access / Circulation (16/A & 16/R; 17/A & 17/R): Though Silver Queen Drive is a public right-of-
way, it will be privately maintained by the Peak Ten Bluffs Homeowners Association. This was an 
agreement made with the Town’s Public Works Department during the annexation process and will be 
noted such on the approved plat. 
 
Currently Silver Queen Drive is unpaved. It will be re-graded and paved as part of the proposed 
subdivision improvements (separate application). The two private drives that access the development 
areas have pullouts for extra parking and improve circulation. These will be paved and graded to meet 
engineering standards. This plan has been reviewed and approved by the Red, White, and Blue Fire 
District. Staff has no concerns with the access and circulation for this development. 
 
Parking (18/A & 18/R): As required by Code, each home will have two parking spaces. These are to be 
provided inside two-car garages. Extra parking for guests is provided in pullouts along the private 
drives. The parking pullouts meet the dimensional requirements for a parking space. Staff has no 
concern with the parking as designed. 
 
Landscaping (22/A & 22/R): Sheets L-1 and L-2 depict the proposed landscaping plan. As shown, all 
of the landscaping is being placed in areas that will be disturbed or have already been disturbed. Staff 
notes that there is landscaping shown off-site at the south of the property as the previous owner had 
removed trees outside the property. Additionally, special attention is paid where the previous applicant 
had removed existing trees in the water/sanitary easement. 
 
The plans are showing a variety of deciduous trees and a variety of evergreen trees. The minimum 
caliper size for the deciduous trees is 2 1/2 inches. The minimum size for evergreen trees is 6 feet in 
height. A variety of shrubs are also shown. 
 
Some of this landscaping will be put in with the subdivision improvements. Others will be placed as 
each unit is developed. Since development of the property could take years, staff will be adding a 
Condition of Approval that all disturbed areas be maintained weed free with a native 
wildflower/groundcover mix. This is similar to the conditions the Planning Commission approved with 
Columbia Lode. 
 
Utilities Infrastructure (26/A & 26/R; 28/A): The main utilities and infrastructure have been placed 
off of White Cloud Drive up the hill to the development areas. Deep utilities to each building site will be 
placed upon approval of the Subdivision Plan (separate application). Staff has no concerns. 
 
Drainage (27/A & 27/R): Review of the site drainage will be discussed with the attached Subdivision 
staff report. Special care will be taken to protect the existing wetlands and to ensure there is no erosion 
on the steep slopes. 
 
Point Analysis (Section: 9-1-17-3): At this preliminary review, Staff is finding the application passes 
all Absolute Policies and has not incurred any points related to Relative Policies. 
 

Staff Recommendation / Decision 
 
After years of having this as an abandoned development site, Staff is pleased to see a proposal to carry 
this forward to completion. It is a very difficult site to develop and the applicant has made great efforts 
to meet all criteria identified in the Development Code. 
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Staff has the following questions for the Planning Commission: 

1. Does the Planning Commission support the change from duplex units to cluster single-family 
home units? 

2. Does the Planning Commission have any additional comments regarding the landscaping for this 
proposal? 
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Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
Subject: Peak Ten Bluffs Subdivision  
 (Class A, Preliminary Hearing; PC#2013067) 
 
Proposal: To re-subdivide the property previously known as Angels Lookout for the 

development of eight cluster single-family homes on eight individual lots. Two 
existing private driveways will access the properties. A Development Permit 
application for a master plan is being reviewed separately. 

 
Date:  August 27, 2013 (For meeting of September 17, 2013) 
 
Project Manager:  Michael Mosher, Planner III 
 
Applicant/Owner:  Breck Limited, LLC 
 
Agent:  Lou Glisan, Breck Ltd., LLC 
 
Address:  Silver Queen Drive 
 
Legal Description:  A resubdivision of Lots 57A and 57B, Warriors Mark Townhomes, Filing 5 
 
 Land Use District: 30.6 – Residential; Warriors Mark Townhouse #5 Lots 57A and 57B: 8 units 
 
Site Area:   3.283 acres (142,987 sq. ft.) 
 
Site Conditions: The property slopes down sharply from Silver Queen Drive at about 40-45%. A 5-

foot wide utility easement exists at the base of the lot. This lot has improvements 
from a previous development approval (abandoned). There are two private drives 
constructed with large retaining walls accessing the property off Silver Queen 
Drive.  These drives lay within a platted Private Access and Utility Easement. The 
large area of heavily wooded wetlands lies to the northeast and a 20-foot wide 
utility easement bisects the property from White Cloud Drive to the south. The 
property is heavily wooded with Lodgepole pines. The wetlands area has healthy 
spruce trees.  

 
Adjacent Uses: North: Multi Family Residential, White Cloud Drive 
 East: Multi Family Residential 
 South: Gold King Placer, Summit County jurisdiction  
 West: Silver Queen Drive, Warriors Mark West 
 
Density: Allowed per subdivision:  8 units in duplex 
 Proposed density: 8 units in cluster single family 
 
Lot Coverage: Building / non-Permeable: (pending development review) 
 Hard Surface / non-Permeable: (pending development review) 
 Open Space / Permeable Area: Approximately 42% of the site 
 
Setbacks: Front: 15 ft. 
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 Sides: 5 ft. 
 Rear: 15 ft. 
 

Item History 
 
The Board of County Commissioners approved Angels Lookout Subdivision (within Warriors Mark 
Subdivision) on December 5, 2002. This subdivision created four duplex lots, each with a building 
envelope, with a total of eight units of density. The project was never completed although some 
infrastructure was installed. Since the approval of the subdivision, the Town of Breckenridge annexed 
all of the Warriors Mark subdivisions and is now responsible for the review of any development within 
Angels Lookout.  
 
The property is quite steep with slopes nearing 45% that face north towards downtown Breckenridge. 
The internal private access drive, Silver Queen Drive, was constructed for the County’s subdivision 
approval and is used to access the property. The lower portion of Silver Queen is now a Town right-of-
way. 
 
With a previous owner and with the previous County approved subdivision, this property had been 
approved by the Planning Commission and Town Council with two development permits, a duplex for 
Lot 3 (PC#2003079) and a duplex for Lot 4 (PC#2003080). Lot 4 was under construction and then later 
all development was abandoned by the previous owner. The property remained with no further 
improvements for several years. The current applicant has since removed the existing foundation and the 
vertical construction for Lot 4. The development permit for Lot 3 was never started. 
 
Since this is a re-subdivision, the proposed improvements must meet the Town standards instead of the 
County standards. As a result, some of the discussion below identifies these changes. 
 

Staff Comments 
 
This review is to create a plat that identifies the proposed parcels and easements. There are easements for 
snow stacking, public access, utilities, and drainage. As part of the subdivision improvements, preliminary 
finished grading / drainage plan, and utility plans are included for initial review. 
 
This report will review all sheets against the Subdivision Ordinance, Street Standards, Development Code 
and other applicable documents. A drainage report will be presented to Engineering for their review with 
the next submittal.  
 
Design Compatible with Natural Features (9-2-4-2): This provision of the Subdivision Standards 
encourages the design of subdivisions to respond to the natural limitations of the site, respect drainage 
patterns and to preserve natural features such as trees. In addition, it encourages the design to provide open 
space and adequate fire fighting capabilities. 
 
As noted above, this subdivision was annexed into the Town of Breckinridge after approval from the 
County. This application and the attached drawings are striving to respond to this section of the code and to 
design the improvements with respect to drainage patterns and preservation of the natural features on the 
property. 
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Since this property has been previously disturbed and it is very steep, Staff believes special attention should 
be paid to preserving natural features of this property and to prevent any further damage during 
development. 
 
The Town’s standard Condition of Approval for any development states: “Applicant shall revegetate all 
disturbed areas with a minimum of 2 inches topsoil, seed and mulch”, any portion of this site that is being 
graded or having fill brought in will be re-vegetated. In addition, we are suggesting adding a Condition of 
Approval that requires these areas are irrigated and free of noxious weeds. This is a similar Condition of 
Approval that was required of the recently approved Columbia Lode development. 
 
The private drive design and overall site circulation has been supported by the Red White and Blue Fire 
District. The Red White and Blue Fire District is also requiring two additional fire hydrants to be installed 
as part of the improvements. 
 
The Town’s Engineering Department identified several concerns with the existing conditions on the 
property. There is a portion of Silver Queen that exceeds an 8% grade. There is also a portion of the upper 
private drive that exceeds 8%.  
 
In addition to paving both of these roadways, the applicant will also re-grade and pave the slopes to not 
exceed 8%. Staff will have additional comments with the next review. 
 
Drainage, Storm Sewers and Flood Prevention (9-2-4-3): Efforts have been made to control erosion on 
the steep site and to protect the existing wetlands that lie to the north below the development area. At this 
preliminary review, the grading and drainage plans are identifying details for silt fencing, infiltration 
trenches, and retaining walls. The Engineering Department supportive of the design concept and is seeking 
additional detail for the structures with the next review. 
 
Staff notes that some of the structures depicted on the drawings are located outside the setbacks. We will 
provide further detail on these at the next review. The private access drives have existing retaining walls 
that go outside the property line (currently owned by Gold King 1, LLC, Peter Hamlett). The applicant has 
met with Engineering and Streets Departments and has agreed to obtain an Encroachment License 
Agreement for any off-site improvements. 
 
Utilities (9-2-4-4): The main utilities and infrastructure have been placed off of White Cloud Drive up the 
hill to the development areas. With the direction of the Red White and Blue Fire District, two additional fire 
hydrants have been placed along the private drive. The plans also show the proposed sewer and water 
connections to each lot from the main lines in the water/sanitary easement running up the hill from White 
Cloud Drive.  
 
Lot Dimensions, Improvements and Configuration (9-2-4-5) and Dedication of Parks and Open 
Space (9-2-4-13):  As with all subdivisions within the Warriors Mark area, the Town annexed these 
properties "as is". There is no increase of density with this application. There will be a total of eight units as 
previously platted. There will be no required dedication of parks and open space with this re-subdivision, as 
this redivision is ultimately not creating any new lots. 
 
Since the properties are being platted as Cluster Single Family lots, the required 5,000 square foot minimum 
lot size need not be met. 
 
Pedestrian and Bicycle Circulation (9-2-4-7): Per the Subdivision Ordinance: 
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“It is the policy of the Town to require bicycle and pedestrian paths to be dedicated to the Town as a 
component of the Town's alternative transportation network and to provide recreational opportunities. 
Subdivision proposals shall include, as a component of the required public improvements, a pedestrian and 
bicycle path system designed to preserve existing paths, integrate with existing improvements and provide 
service appropriate to the character and magnitude of the proposed development.” 
 
The Town’s Open Space and Trails Department has identified no public trails on this property or any shown 
on the Trails Master Plan. 
 
However, the applicant has proposed a private pedestrian trail connecting White Cloud Drive to the 
development above located along the existing water/sanitary easement. This will allow the residents of Peak 
Ten Bluffs to walk down the hill and catch the public bus at the intersection of White Cloud Drive and 
Broken Lance Drive. At this preliminary review, the plans are showing the trail meandering up the hill with 
landscaping to buffer the improvements and seating areas. The applicant is aware that the utility companies 
may damage some of these improvements if any utility maintenance is required within the easement. The 
applicant will obtain approval for these improvements from the agencies prior to the next review of this 
subdivision. 
 
Traffic Control Devices and Signs (9-2-4-9): As mentioned above, Silver Queen Drive is now a public 
right of way within the Town limits. It will be maintained as a private drive where it crosses the Town 
boundary to the south. At the base of Silver Queen Drive the plans show that a new stop sign will be placed 
at the intersection with White Cloud Drive. 
 
In addition to signing Silver Queen Drive as a public right away, the two access driveways to Peak Ten 
Bluffs will be private drives.  
 
Subdivision and Street Names (9-2-4-10): The subdivision is named “Peak Ten Bluffs”. This name has 
been cleared with the Town of Breckenridge and the County. The names of the two private drives will be 
determined and approved by both the Town and the County prior to recordation of the final plat.  
 
Existing and Proposed Streets (9-2-4-11): This policy requires that new streets tie into existing streets, 
and conform to the Breckenridge Master Plan. The submitted plans meet this policy. The private drive is 
shown at 22-feet wide and meets the minimum width for a private drive. Though Silver Queen Drive is a 
public right-of-way, it will be privately maintained by the Peak Ten Bluffs Homeowners Association. 
This was an agreement made with the Town’s Public Works Department during the annexation process 
and will be noted such on the approved plat. 
 

Staff Recommendation 
 
The applicant has worked closely with planning staff to create a development that has the least amount of 
impact on this difficult site. As mentioned above, the subdivision was approved in the County. As currently 
proposed, each cluster single-family home should be able to be submitted and abide with all applicable 
policies in the Development Code. 
 
At this preliminary review, staff has found no outstanding issues related to policies in the Development 
Code. We welcome any Commissioner comments related to this application. If possible, the applicant 
would like to return for final review. 
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